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G.10 (09)Part One – Our Strategy and Performance in 2008/09
Section One – Strategy, Environment, Leadership, Risks and Organisational Capability

I look forward to continuing this work and especially to 
further developing the Ministry’s role as a leader in the sector, 
helping it take an organised and coherent approach to the 
achievement of the government’s cultural goals. The sector has 
much to contribute, too, to the achievement of non-cultural 
(including economic) goals.

I have every confidence that, in the period to come, the staff 
of the Ministry will bring the same expertise and commitment 
to their work as they did in the 2008/09 year. I would like to 
take the opportunity to thank them all for their contribution, 
and for the support they offer me as Chief Executive.

Lewis Holden
CHIEF ExECUTIVE
Ministry for Culture and Heritage

 

Tēna Koutou
Tēnei te tāpae i te Pūrongo ā-Tau a Te Manatū Taonga mō te tau. 
Anō te āhuareka i tēnei te pūrongo a-tau tuatahi a Te Manatū 
Taonga ka whai wāhi ai au.

 

Chief Executive 

Welcome to the 2008/09 annual report for the Ministry for 
Culture and Heritage.

My tenure as Chief Executive of the Ministry began only 
two weeks before the end of the 2008/09 financial year, and 
this document is therefore one that records primarily the work 
and achievements of others. I’d like first to acknowledge the 
contribution of Bronwyn Dalley, Acting Chief Executive of the 
Ministry from September 2008 until June 2009. Dr Dalley was 
an able leader of the Ministry for a significant period – and 
during a significant time. The 2008 election brought a new 
administration into power; new Ministers into the Arts, 
Culture and Heritage, Broadcasting, and Sport and Recreation 
portfolios; and a new set of government objectives to guide the 
work of the organisation.

But the 2008/09 year was also marked by the global 
recession, which constrained expenditure by central and 
local government, by non-government organisations, and by 
consumers. The Ministry, like other public service departments, 
made savings in its operation during this period. And the 
cultural sector had to make adjustments as funding from 
government and from other sources came under pressure.

The cultural organisations with which the Ministry works 
responded to the challenges of the recession with energy and 
flair, and with a continued commitment to providing New 
Zealanders and visitors with quality cultural experiences. 

The importance of culture has been recognised and 
reinforced also by the Ministry’s own activities over the last 
year: making New Zealand history accessible; providing New 
Zealand cultural experiences, resources and information 
online; promoting New Zealand’s cultural presence 
internationally; supporting and monitoring the government’s 
investment in arts, heritage, broadcasting and sports 
agencies; safeguarding New Zealand’s heritage; and advising 
government. 
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Background – Meeting Our Accountability Obligations

This annual report covers the Ministry’s strategy, operating 
and financial performance for the 2008/09 financial year (1 July 
2008 to 30 June 2009) and provides details on:

strategy, service performance and outcomes progress (Part •	
One)

the legislation expenditure administered by the Ministry •	
(Part Two)

financial statements (Part Three) •	

standards and service performance (Part Four) •	

audit report. •	

The report also takes into account the change of Government 
in November 2008. 

The performance information in this report reflects the 
services provided by the Ministry and their impact upon 
medium term cultural outcomes. 

The diagram below illustrates the basis upon which the 
Ministry reports its:

annual operating performance•	

progress towards the outcomes contained in the Ministry’s •	
2008 Statement of Intent

cost effectiveness and value for money.•	

The performance themes reflected in this annual report are:
stimulating enhanced creative, consumer and policy •	
participation in culture and cultural activities; and

value for money from the Government’s investment in the •	
sector.

The Ministry’s Performance Planning and Reporting Framework

Priorities and 
Strategies

Our Resources
Products, 

services and their 
performance

Medium term 
outcomes and 
service impact

Long term 
Outcomes

What we measure 
and report

Operating intentions Annual service 
performance

Medium term strategic performance

Evaluation of results and risk management

Economy – are we 
making the most of 
our resources and 

services?

Service efficiency
Impacts / results 
(Effectiveness)

Benefits to  
New Zealanders

Cost effectiveness / value for money

G.10 (09)
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The Ministry in 2008/09

In 2008/09 the Ministry provided services to the Minister 
for Arts, Culture and Heritage, the Minister of Broadcasting 
and the Minister for Sport and Recreation. These services 
cost $13.643 million to deliver. Our role is to support the 
government’s cultural objectives and priorities by helping 
make culture visible and accessible to New Zealanders and 
international audiences. We do this by:

Advising government – providing advice on funding, •	
legislation, projects, cultural issues, broadcasting and 
treaties, and contributing to other government work 
where a cultural view is needed, in order to ensure that the 
cultural sector contributes strongly to government’s goals

Supporting and monitoring the government’s investment •	
in arts, heritage, broadcasting and sports agencies, which in 
2008/09 totalled $298.957 million

Safeguarding New Zealand’s heritage – administering •	
laws; protecting cultural objects and symbols of national 
identity; maintaining national monuments and war graves 
and developing new memorials

Promoting New Zealand’s cultural presence internationally •	
– providing a New Zealand cultural presence in key 
overseas regions or countries to boost New Zealand’s 
profile and its economic, trade, tourism, diplomatic and 
cultural interests

Making New Zealand history accessible – producing  •	
works on New Zealand history in print and online  
(www.NZHistory.net.nz); researching and producing  
oral histories

Providing New Zealand cultural experiences, resources and •	
information online – producing the online Encyclopedia of 
New Zealand (www.TeAra.govt.nz) and providing online 
information about and access to cultural activities  
(www.NZLive.com).

As at 30 June 2009 the Ministry employed a total of 110 
staff (100.1 full-time equivalents), all based in Wellington. 
Additional information about who we are and what we do 
(including our Statement of Intent) is available on our web site 
(www.mch.govt.nz). 

 
In 2008/09 the above activities were funded through the 
following departmental output expense appropriations:

Heritage Services•	

International Cultural Diplomacy•	

Policy Advice and Monitoring of Funded Agencies •	

Purchase Advice and Monitoring of Sport and Recreation •	
Crown Entities.

1 Employment in the Cultural Sector – Ngā Mahi ki te Taha Tikanga ā-Iwi, pp. 6, 7, Ministry for Culture and Heritage, February 2009
2 Cultural Indicators for New Zealand – Tohu Ahurea mo Aotearoa 2009, pp. 70-71. Ministry for Culture and Heritage, June 2009

G.10 (09)
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These output expenses are applied to the Ministry’s activities and outcomes as follows:

 

Output 
expense

Activity Making 
history 

accessible 

Providing 
cultural 

information 
online

Supporting 
cultural 

and sports 
organisations

Safe-
guarding 
heritage

Advising 
government

Promoting 
New Zealand’s 

cultural presence 
internationally

Heritage Services

International 
Cultural 
Diplomacy

Policy Advice and 
Monitoring of 
Funded Agencies

Sport and 
Recreation

G.10 (09)
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The cultural sector

The New Zealand cultural sector is a significant employer of 
New Zealanders and produces a diverse range of indigenous 
arts, culture and heritage goods and services for local and 
international consumers. The Ministry supports the sector in 
maximising its contribution to New Zealand’s cultural, social 
and economic prosperity.

1 Employment in the Cultural Sector – Ngā Mahi ki te Taha Tikanga ā-Iwi, pp. 6, 7, Ministry for Culture and Heritage, February 2009
2 Cultural Indicators for New Zealand – Tohu Ahurea mo Aotearoa 2009, pp. 70–71. Ministry for Culture and Heritage, June 2009

Activities, employment and income

Cultural activities paid employment 2006 and %age change 
in paid employment 2001–20061  

Cultural sector occupations, industries and employment
 

Traditional Maori culture – data to be collected next •	
research update

Heritage activities – 2,238; 36%•	

Library services – 3,012; 24%•	

Literature – 18,555; -1%•	

Performing arts activities – 1,383; 2% •	

Visual arts activities – 17,997; 26%•	

Film and Video – 8,484; 23%•	

Broadcasting – 2,721; 9%•	

Communities and government activities – 11,496; 34%•	

Other activities – 3,369; 38%•	
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Numbers of cultural activities in and outside the main 
centres 2006

Sales of goods and services and other income for Cultural 
Industries 2005–2007 ($ billion) 

 11,922

3,976Outside main centres
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(a) Strategy

Part One – Our Strategy and Performance in 2008/09
Section One – Strategy, Environment, Leadership, Risks and 
Organisational Capability

Th e Ministry’s strategy for the 2008 fi nancial year incorporated three intermediate outcomes and seven strategic priorities.3 Following 
the election in November 2008 the Ministry’s strategy refl ected the priorities of the National-led Government. Th is report therefore 
includes Ministry performance relating to the current Government’s goals and priorities for the period December 2008 to 30 June 2009.

Th e core of the Ministry’s strategy is to support a vibrant, sustainable and productive arts, culture and heritage sector. Th is requires the 
active participation of artists, audiences, cultures, enterprises and communities. Active participation is supported by quality cultural 
experiences and cultures in New Zealand that are visible and accessible – to New Zealanders and international audiences. Th erefore, 
the initiatives and services supporting Ministry’s strategy in 2008/09 emphasised:

enhancing the visibility and accessibility of culture and cultural experiences•	

providing policy leadership to arts, culture, heritage sector; broadcasting, sport, Government and local authority organisations•	

supporting and monitoring the good governance, sustainability and value for money of funded entities•	

protection of New Zealand’s cultural heritage•	

Th e following strategy map is an overview of how the Ministry’s services provided in the reporting period supported medium and long 
term goals.4

3 For further details see pages 8–10 of the 2008 Statement of Intent
4 For further details see pages 6–9 of the 2009 Statement of Intent

Strategy Map

What is driving our business? How we make things happen Th e diff erence that we make

Products / services we 
deliver

For Whom? With what impact? For what medium term 
goals (outcomes)?

Long term goals 
(outcomes)

Priorities

•	 Increased	audiences	
and appreciation of 
culture

•	 Expanding	the	
visibility of cultures 
in New Zealand

•	 Implementing	
a competitive 
broadcasting 
environment

•	 Increased	sector–and	
business–focused 
leadership

•	 Legislative	reviews	
of selected funded 
agencies

•	 Encouraging	increased	
philanthropy

•	 Increased	contribution	
of Maori and Maori 
culture

•	 Expanded	policy	
leadership 
coordination and 
collaboration

•	 Continuously	
improving operating 
effi  ciency and 
eff ectiveness

•	 Heritage	products	and	
services

•	 Arts,	culture	heritage	
and Broadcasting 
policy advice services

•	 Funded-agencies	
monitoring and review 
services

•	 Cultural	Diplomacy	
International 
programme

•	 Schools,	New	
Zealanders, 
international audiences, 
local authorities

•	 Ministers
•	 Agency	boards	and	

senior managers
•	 Government	agencies
•	 Broadcasting	agencies
•	 Producers	and	

consumers of cultural 
activities

•	 Maori	and	Pacifi	c	
peoples

•	 Increased	visibility,	
access and usability

•	 Increased	awareness	of	
culture

•	 A	competitive	
broadcasting 
environment delivering 
quality content to 
audiences

•	 Seamless	cultural	
policies and processes

•	 Increased	funded	
agency sustainability 
and effi  ciency

•	 Increased	awareness	of	
New Zealand and its 
culture

•	 Increased	collaboration	
with Maori on 
cultural policies and 
programmes

Th e diversity, visibility 
and accessibility of 
culture and cultural 
experiences are enhanced

Th e programmes, 
services and products of 
funded agencies are of 
high quality and widely 
accessible

Th e value and 
contribution of culture 
to New Zealand’s social, 
environmental and 
economic well-being is 
recognised 

New Zealanders valuing 
access and opportunities 
to participate in cultural 
experiences

A sector that is 
diverse, sustainable 
and contributing 
economically and socially

Culture is valued for 
its contribution to 
realising the potential 
of Maori and, growing 
New Zealand’s 
partnerships and profi le 
internationally

Improving our business
•	 Sector	and	internal	relationships	and	leadership
•	 Maori	engagement	and	policy	relationship
•	 Talent	development	and	performance	management
•	 ICT	network	reliability	and	ease	of	website	use	for	

visitors
•	 Productive	and	service-focused	work	culture

What is infl uencing our business?
•	 Cultural	and	ethnic	population	diversity
•	 Adverse	economic	outlook
•	 Demand	for	history,	culture	and	heritage	experiences
•	 Cultural	and	economic	visibility	of	Maori
•	 International	visibility	of	New	Zealand’s	culture
•	 Rapid	changing	digital	and	online	technologies
•	 Increased	range	of	audiences	and	demands
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G.10 (09)Part One – Our Strategy and Performance in 2008/09
Section One – Strategy, Environment, Leadership, Risks and Organisational Capability

(b) Operating environment
Several key trends infl uence the participation in and funding of arts, culture and heritage activities and, consequently, the Ministry’s 
strategy:

greater cultural, ethnic, population and community diversity.•	  Th ese changes boost demand for greater diversity and customisation 
of cultural experiences. Th is trend supports the continued focus on increasing the use of the Ministry’s online cultural resources, 
targeting audiences and audience contribution.

an adverse economic and fi scal outlook.•	  Th is aff ects the availability of funding for artists and cultural organisations and threatens 
the development of high quality local cultural content. It also underlined the need to ensure that government funded cultural 
initiatives provide value for money, stimulate demand for cultural activities and are being delivered by cultural organisations that 
are sustainable in the long term. 

increasing demand for history, culture and heritage experiences. •	 Taking advantage of growing demand for information about New 
Zealand’s history, people, land, culture and heritage was a priority for the period. Th erefore, both reaching a wider audience and 
ensuring access to national heritage sites were a key focus for the delivery of heritage services.

realising the potential of Māori.•	  Māori culture is a key foundation from which Māori develop their potential economically and 
socially. To enhance the Ministry’s contribution to realising the potential of Māori, a number of initiatives were implemented 
aimed at developing the Ministry’s capability to engage confi dently with Māori.

the increasing visibility of New Zealand’s culture internationally. •	 Accessing opportunities to promote New Zealand’s identity 
overseas and advance diplomatic, cultural and economic priorities in key regions continued to be a focus for the cultural diplomacy 
programme and for NZlive.com, the Ministry’s guide to cultural activity in New Zealand.

rapidly changing online and digital technologies.•	  Managing the transition from analogue to digital television was a priority during the 
period, with the establishment of an industry-government steering group. Research and analysis was also begun to consult with 
regional television broadcasters in a fully digital environment. 

We expect that these trends will continue to infl uence the Ministry’s strategy for the next three years.

(c) Sector leadership and research
Providing increased leadership to the sector became an explicit priority for the Ministry following the election. A sector with a clear 
sense of direction will be better positioned to realise its social and economic contribution to New Zealand. Th e Ministry’s sector 
leadership role includes leading policy development, encouraging good governance in the sector, coordinating cross sector initiatives, 
facilitating consensus on direction and strategy, supporting the increased contribution of Māori and Māori culture, and communicating 
the social and economic value that cultural activity contributes to the country. 

During 2008/09, several work programmes supported the Ministry’s sector leadership role. Th e operating performance of these 
programmes is reported in Section Two.

Supporting the Ministry’s sector leadership activities is its programme of research. Th is informs:
the development of strategy and cultural initiatives•	

investment in the sector •	

communicating the social and economic contribution of cultural activities.•	

Th e Ministry uses twenty-four cultural indicators to monitor trends in the contribution of cultural activity to the New Zealand society 
and economy. Th e cultural indicators are supplemented by targeted research on key producer, consumer and community arts, culture 
and heritage related infl uences and trends.
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G.10 (09)

In 2008/09 the Ministry published targeted research on:

Research report Selected findings

How Important is Culture? New Zealanders’ Views in 2008 – 
An Overview.

In 2008 there are now more people who strongly agree that:
Māori culture and activities are an important part of  •	
New Zealand’s national identity (up from 45% in 1997 to  
62% in 2008)

Culture and cultural activities have a high profile in NZ (up •	
from 23% to 38%)

Cultural activities should receive some funding from •	
Government (up from 37% to 49%)

information about culture and cultural activities is readily •	
available (up from 23% to 33%).

Employment in the Cultural Sector 2009 – Ngā Mahi ki te 
Taha Tikanga ā-Iwi.

Between 2001 and 2006:
The number of people in paid cultural employment •	
increased by 21 percent, compared with an increase of 15 
percent in total employment

There was a 26 percent increase in employment in cultural •	
occupations and an 18 percent increase in employment in 
cultural industries

The cultural industries accounting for the most growth •	
were preschool education, architectural services, religious 
organisations and interest groups.

Demand for Cultural Tourism – Update 2008 Interest in cultural tourism products was generally strongest •	
amongst visitors from the United Kingdom, Germany and 
North American markets

Interest in cultural tourism products was typically stronger •	
amongst female visitors than males

Interest in cultural tourism products was most evident •	
amongst the older age groups (45 years +).
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Section One – Strategy, Environment, Leadership, Risks and Organisational Capability

(d) Risks
The Ministry’s 2008 Statement of Intent identifies the main risks to the Ministry’s sustained performance. Overall, none of the 
identified risks to the Ministry’s total performance adversely influenced ongoing performance during the year. The impact on Ministry 
performance of each risk during 2008/09 was as follows:

Risk Action Taken

Failure to maintain the quality of policy advice, monitoring 
and other services to Ministers

Sustaining the confidence of some stakeholders in the quality 
of policy advice was a challenge during the period. The 
Ministry sought Ministerial and independent feedback on 
improving the quality of policy advice and has implemented 
initiatives to address this risk, including a programme of 
training, mentoring and peer review.

Loss of reputation for reliability and accuracy of Ministry-
developed digital resources

The Ministry received no challenges to the accuracy of its 
digital resources for the period.

Performance failure at a funded agency Through a programme of funded entity reviews and 
performance monitoring the Ministry proactively identified 
and addressed any risks to entity performance.

Failure to understand or meet the requirements of users of 
Ministry online resources

The growth in visitors to the Ministry’s online resources 
and more user generated website content signified that the 
Ministry continued to understand and meet the needs of 
users.

Failure to maintain and develop effective networks and robust 
processes for consultation with stakeholders

As part of its on-going operations the Ministry conducted 
a number of consultation and feedback exercises with 
stakeholders. 

Major technology failure The Ministry’s technology platforms and related development 
projects continued to provide service improvements without 
significant disruption to normal operations.
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G.10 (09)

(e) Developing organisation health and capability
The Ministry’s five-year organisational health and capability strategy is to sustain the continuous improvement of systems, processes, 
people, leadership and culture.5 In 2008/09 the Ministry’s initiatives focused on enhancing organisation efficiency, developing 
leadership capability, strengthening the professional development of staff, developing the internal culture and fostering strong 
relationships with stakeholders. 

Organisation health and efficiency

The organisation health and efficiency objectives, performance measures and actual performance for 2008/09 are: 

Objective Measures Actual performance

Organisation health 

The Ministry is considered a desirable 
place to work (a responsive, productive 
and focused work culture)

Employee engagement rates 2007/08 – 3.7 out of 5
2008/09 – 4.03 out of 5 (79th NZ 
Public Sector percentile)

Average length of service 2007/08 – 3.7 years
2008/09 – 4.3 years

Average age of staff (proxy measure for 
staff experience) 

2007/08 – 42 years 
2008/09 – 43.3 years

Organisation efficiency

Average staff cost per output – Total 
direct salary costs divided by direct staff 
numbers

Monitor the costs of producing outputs 
in relation to quality and resources 
required

2007/08 – $70,386
2008/09 – $80,456

Ratio of staff full-time equivalent 
(FTE) engaged in output production to 
corporate support

2007/08 – 3.7: 1
2008/09 – 3.2: 1

Personnel expenses per FTE (whole 
of Ministry) – Total personnel costs 
divided by FTE staff numbers

2007/08 – $78,442
2008/09 – $73,890

Overall, these measures indicate that:
the Ministry’s organisational development programmes have had a positive impact upon employee engagement and work culture•	

the Ministry has staff with sufficient experience to effectively contribute to overall performance•	

the Ministry’s corporate support activities are being provided at decreasing cost.•	

5    For details of specific organisation health and capability goals and work programmes see Ministry’s 2008 Statement of Intent , pp. 22 – 25.
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Developing capability

The development of staff capability in 2008/09 focused on developing future leaders, increasing staff engagement, professional 
development of managers and equipping staff to liaise effectively and confidently with Māori. Progress on capability development 
initiatives either implemented or continued from 2007/08 were:

Initiatives Actual performance 

Continued implementation of the Ministry’s leadership 
development programme 

The Ministry’s Leadership Development Programme for 
2nd tier managers has comprised in-house training, external 
seminars and action learning groups. The programme included 
developing leadership teams, coaching and engaging with 
Maori. At an individual level 2nd tier leaders have identified 
specific learning opportunities to enhance their leadership 
capability.

Implement staff engagement survey The results of the April 2008 Engagement Survey were one 
input in the Ministry’s 2008/09 organisational development 
plan. The Ministry ran its second Gallup Staff Engagement 
Survey in March/April 2009. The Ministry’s scored 
significantly higher in its 2009 ‘Engagement Scorecard’. (For 
details see Organisation health and efficiency table on page 10) 

Expand the professional development programme The in-house professional development programme for 
2008/09 included our regular project management and 
communications type courses. This year we also introduced 
a Machinery of Government course that was well subscribed 
and regarded.  
As part of enhancing the Ministry’s ability to engage with 
Māori, the Ministry’s leadership team completed a te reo and 
mihimihi course and up to 25 staff completed a very successful 
tikanga course.

Develop a programme to ensure that the Ministry is equipped 
to liaise effectively and confidently with Māori

The Ministry’s Māori Engagement work programme 
was finalised during 2008/09 and overseen by a Steering 
Committee. A part-time Māori Adviser (Pou Arahi 
Whakahaere) position was established to implement the work 
programme and a tikanga specialist engaged.  
A set of competencies focusing on knowledge of Māori culture 
and language, incorporating Māori engagement into team 
and project management, and relationship management, were 
developed. These competencies then informed the training 
and development priorities for 2008/09 and 2009/10. 
Consultation/Engagement guidelines were developed to 
support staff when planning work that may relate to Māori.
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Th e Ministry’s operating performance for 2008/09 covers the initiatives contained in the Operating Intentions section of the 2008 
Statement of Intent (pages 11–21). 
Th e measures of operating performance cover the economy, effi  ciency and eff ectiveness of the Ministry’s services, specifi cally:

economy – how well we managed our people, money and assets (inputs) •	

effi  ciency – how effi  cient we were in delivering outputs (quantity) and meeting our service delivery standards•	 6 (quality) during the 
year 

eff ectiveness – the impact of our services.•	

Th e combined operating performance measures, outcome indicators and cost eff ectiveness measures (Section Th ree) provide the 
foundation for assessing value for money.

Appropriation: Heritage Services 
Th is appropriation has a value of $5.750 million, which was invested in three key initiatives - Publishing New Zealand History, Te 
Ara – Th e Encyclopedia of New Zealand and the protection and promotion of symbols of nation, movable cultural heritage, historic 
graves and memorials. Th ese initiatives support outcome one – the diversity, visibility and accessibility of our culture, and participation 
in cultural experiences, are enhanced. 

Initiative One – New Zealand History services: Research and produce information about New Zealand history online 
(www.NZHistory.net.nz), print and in other media . 

New Zealand History Services Operating Performance – Economy and Effi  ciency Measures 2008/09

Measures Actual performance 2008/09

Output Costs (including overhead loading)

$1,742,968

$1,904,255

$800,000

$1,300,000

$1,800,000

$2,300,000

2007/08 2008/09

 NZHistory Services Output Costs

Oral history interviews : From Memory (War Oral History Programme): the remaining 10 interviews 
with veterans of J Force were completed in preparation for work on the book 
drawn from the interviews; one further interview for the From Memory oral 
history collection was completed.
Vietnam War Oral History Project: a further 22 interviews were conducted with 
veterans of the Vietnam War and their family members.

Project timeliness: Th e History Group met its project deadlines for most projects. Th e addition 
and completion of the unplanned 28th Māori Battalion website project (http://
www.28maoribattalion.org.nz/) resulted in resources being diverted from other 
web projects which were delayed until resource became available. 

Section Two – Operating Performance

6  For the Ministry’s Statement of Service Peformance see Part Four of this Annual Report
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Measures Actual performance 2008/09

Service performance All standards of service performance were met during the period. For details on 
the standards of service performance see Part Four, Section Five Statement of 
Standards and Service Performance.

Site visitors (unique visitors)

 2008 2009

01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

NZHistory.net Unique 
visitors 2008/09

Average of last 4 
corresponding periods

0

40,000

80,000

120,000

NZHistory.net Unique visitors 2008/09

Target audiences – Schools 
(proxy measure)

Reliable and direct measures of visitors from schools to NZHistory.net are not 
possible. An indirect measure is the eff ect of school holidays on visitors to the site. 
On average, visitors to the site fall approximately 40% during school holidays.

Change in unique visitors: Unique visitors (unique browsers) increased 29% from the previous year 
(2008 – 766,107; 2009 – 990,517).

 

545,190

766,107

990,157

400,000

600,000

800,000

1,000,000

1,200,000

2006–07 2007–08 2008–09

NZHistory.net Change in Unique Visitors 2006–09

Page views

 2008 2009

01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

NZHistory.net Page
Views 2008/09

Average of last 4 
corresponding periods
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Measures Actual performance 2008/09

Change in page views Page views increased 17% from 2008 (2008 – 4,268,091; 2009 – 5,013,412).
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New content Seventeen new features were added to Nzhistory.net.nz and a new website 
published for the 28 Māori Battalion (http://www.28maoribattalion.org.nz/). 

New and reprinted publications  Works published: 
The history of C Company, 28 Battalion Māori•	

A guide to the National War Memorial .•	

Delivered to the publisher:
The text of the collection of war-related material was completed and the •	
manuscript

The text of the history of the Office of the Auditor General was completed and •	
delivered to the publisher

The text of a history of civilian life in NZ during the Second World War, based •	
on oral history interviews, was delivered to the publisher.

Near completion or book production:
The first of the reprinted editions of books of interviews with Second World •	
War veterans appeared, and final production work on another completed

The text of the Vietnam War combat and medical history was completed and •	
book production commenced.



15

Part One – Our Strategy and Performance in 2008/09
Section Two – Operating Performance

G.10 (09)

Initiative Two – Reference Services: Publish an online encyclopedia and reference works on New Zealand’s people, land, culture and 
society (www.TeAra.govt.nz) 

Reference Services Operating Performance – Economy and Efficiency Measures 2008/09

Measures Actual performance 2008/09

Output Costs  
(including overhead loading)
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Te Ara – �e Encyclopedia of New Zealand Output Costs

New and accurate content One additional theme had been completed. 
Three new regional entries (Southland, West Coast and Otago) were launched, 
and Hawkes Bay was completed.  
One publication from Te Ara – The Encyclopedia of New Zealand online 
content was completed (Māori tribes of New Zealand). 

Timeliness of the publication of each theme The fifth theme of Te Ara – the Encyclopedia of New Zealand, entitled ‘Economy 
and the City’, was well advanced by the end of June 2009. By that time 84 of a 
planned 101 entries had been received, and 77 had been checked. A further 73 
had been allocated resources and 63 had been edited. 48 entries had been gone 
through production and design stages. 105 entries were selected for Theme 6, 
entitled Social Connections, and most had been commissioned by the end of June.

Publications from Te Ara content 2 books were being prepared for publication at 30 June 2009:
“New Zealanders and the Sea”, consisting of 34 maritime entries from the second 
theme of Te Ara
“Te Taiao – Maori and the Natural World”; it will include 27 entries on Maori 
topics from the second and third themes of Te Ara.

Reference Services Operating Performance – Effectiveness (Impact) Measures 2008/09

Measures Actual performance 2008/09

Site visitors (unique visitors) 
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Target audiences – Schools (proxy 
measure)

Reliable and direct measures of visitors from schools to NZHistory.net are not 
possible. An indirect measure is the effect of school holidays on visitors to the site. 
On average, visitors to the site fall approximately 40% during school holidays.
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Measures Actual performance 2008/09

Change in unique visitors Unique visitors (unique browsers) increased 15% from the previous year (2008 – 
1,609,994; 2009 – 1,857,483).
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Change in page views Page views increased 11% from 2008 (2008 – 9,933,868; 2009 – 11,055,385).
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Visitors per day Average visitors per day continued to increase for the period from an average of 
7,500 visitors per day for the period July to December 2008, to 10,800 visitors per 
day for the period January to June 2009.

Service performance All standards of service performance were met during the period. For details on 
the standards of service performance see Part Four, Section Five Statement of 
Standards and Service Performance.
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Initiative Three New Zealand Heritage Services: Protection and promotion of symbols of nationhood, movable cultural heritage, 
historic graves and memorials

New Zealand Heritage Services – Economy and Efficiency Measures 2008/09

Measures Actual performance 2008/09

Output Costs (including overhead loading)
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Heritage Operations Output Costs

 

Service performance All standards of service performance were met during the period. For details on 
the standards of service performance see Part Four, Section Five Statement of 
Standards and Service Performance.

Heritage Operations Services – Effectiveness (Impact) Measures 2008/09

Measures Actual performance 2008/09

Protection of movable cultural heritage
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Measures Actual performance 2008/09

Permanent and temporary export of items 
of cultural heritage
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Use of cultural heritage (proxy measures)

Visitors to National War Memorial 
(Wellington) 
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Appropriation: Policy Advice and Monitoring of Funded Agencies  
Th is appropriation has a value of $6.986 million which was invested in services and initiatives for: 

providing policy advice on arts, culture and heritage and broadcasting issues; •	

monitoring the Crown’s interests in sector agencies; and •	

providing negotiated services to the Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage and the Minister of Broadcasting.•	

Arts, Culture and Heritage Policy Advice – Economy and Effi  ciency Measures 2008/09

Measures Actual performance 2008/09

Output Costs (including overhead loading)
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Measures Actual performance 2008/09

Negotiations with with the Office of Treaty 
Settlements and Iwi claimants on the 
negotiation of Taonga Tūturu Protocols 
as part of the cultural redress section of 
historical Treaty of Waitangi settlements

The Ministry also held negotiations with the following iwi: Te Arawa (River); 
Ngāti Raukawa (River); Ngāti Makino; Ngāti Waitaha; Ngāti Porou; Ngāti 
Pahauwera (3 iwi); Te Rarawa; Ngāti Apa; Kurahaupō (3 iwi); Taranaki-Tainui 
(4 iwi); Turanganui-a-kiwa (3 iwi); Ngāti Whare; and Ngāti Manawa

Service performance – Policy Most standards of service performance were met during the period. For details 
on the standards of service performance see Part Four, Section Five Statement of 
Standards and Service Performance.

Service One: The provision of policy advice on arts, culture, and heritage issues – including legislation, major policy proposals and 
developments of significance in the sector. 

During the year the Ministry provided policy advice on arts, culture, and heritage issues – including legislation, major policy proposals 
and developments of significance in the sector as follows: 

Kerikeri Heritage bypass•	

Advice on regional Museums Policy•	

Co-production film agreements with South Africa, India, China and Thailand and respond to the UK review•	

New Zealand’s accession to UNESCO’s Hague Convention on the Protection of Cultural Property in the Event of Armed •	
Conflict

Scoping of issues relating to the repatriation of taonga•	

Evaluation of the effectiveness of the ‘Policy for Government Departments’ Management of Historic Heritage’ •	

Support specific historic heritage projects – Queen Mary Hospital, Hanmer•	

Engagement with local authorities and government cultural agencies relating to the cultural well-being purpose in the Local •	
Government Act 2002

Development of cultural indicators•	

Employment in the Cultural Sector – published the latest edition of the Employment in the Cultural Sector report, based on data •	
from the 2006 Census, in February 2009

Review of the Historic Places Act 1993•	

Review of the Waitangi National Trust Board Act•	

Preparation of Relationship Instruments as part of Foreshore and Seabed Settlements•	

World Heritage sites tentative list•	

Cultural tourism.•	

Service Two: Supporting other agencies cultural outcomes (Cross-government support)

During the year the Ministry provided policy advice in support of other agencies’ cultural outcomes as follows:
Media use research – A research project involving the Ministry and Te Puni Kōkiri surveying New Zealanders’ use of new and •	
traditional media was published

Joint Storage for National Collecting Agencies•	

Development of free trade agreements•	
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Development of Taonga Tūturu Protocols as part of Treaty Settlements – The Ministry continued to work with the Office of •	
Treaty Settlements, and Iwi claimants on the negotiation of Taonga Tūturu Protocols as part of the cultural redress section of 
historical Treaty of Waitangi settlements. In this time the Ministry established Protocols with: Te Roroa, Waikato-Tainui and Te 
Pumatanga Trust

Crown land disposals – The Ministry and Historic Places Trust were consulted on the review of the Crown Land disposal process •	
by Land Information New Zealand.

Service Three: Securing the effective delivery of public service broadcasting and local content in a multi-platform environment:

Broadcasting Policy Advice – Economy and Efficiency Measures 2008/09

Measures Actual performance 2008/09

Output Costs (including overhead loading)
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Service performance – Broadcasting All standards of service performance were met during the period. For details on 
the standards of service performance see Part Four, Section Five Statement of 
Standards and Service Performance.

(a) Transition to digital television – management of the analogue switch-off 
The Ministry provided advice on the membership of a joint industry/government steering group to guide the switch-over to digital 
television (DSO), as agreed by the previous government. Agencies represented on the group were advised of the final decisions on the 
group’s membership and meeting arrangements for the group were set in train. Two meetings of the group had been held by the end 
of the period, at which the group established its operating procedures and began the selection of an Executive Director. Work was 
begun to measure take-up of digital television and apply forward projections. This will assist the group in making recommendations to 
government about the timing for digital switchover.
 
(b) Management of the digital broadcasting review of regulation
Following a decision to not proceed with a full competition study of the broadcasting market, the Ministry and MED officials 
completed an analysis of information provided in submissions to the previous government’s Regulatory Review of Digital Broadcasting. 
Work was begun on options for regional television broadcasters to transition to digital transmission, in coordination with MED’s work 
on a proposal for post-DSO spectrum allocation. 

(c) Review of the TVNZ Charter 
A Cabinet paper was prepared securing policy agreement for a TVNZ Amendment Bill to replace the Charter with more general 
statutory functions, and to enable the re-screening of pre-1989 TVNZ archived works. Advice was provided to the Minister on the 
nature of those functions, and on the details of the scheme to allow TVNZ to re-screen the pre-1989 works while compensating 
rights-holders. At year’s end drafting instructions for the bill were in preparation. Advice to the Māori Affairs Select Committee was 
provided on the possible impacts on Māori content of the Charter’s repeal. The potential implications of Treaty claim (WAI262) for 
both the Charter repeal and the archived works scheme were discussed with the Crown Law Office, MED and Te Puni Kōkiri.
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(d) Development of options for public service broadcasting funding and local content diversity
Advice was provided on options for enhancing contestable funding through NZ On Air, in replacement of funding previously ring-
fenced for TVNZ to assist in meeting its Charter obligations. This resulted in the establishment in April of NZ On Air’s Platinum 
Television Fund, of $15.1 million per annum. The criteria for and monitoring of the Fund are designed to ensure it delivers high quality 
public broadcasting programmes that are widely visible and accessible by New Zealand audiences. 

(e) Strengthened performance expectations for chartered broadcasters and funded agencies in a multi-platform environment.
The Ministry provided advice on the contents of a new Broadcasting Work Programme for 2009–12, to replace the Programme of 
Action published by the previous government. By year’s end a Cabinet paper had been prepared proposing that the Programme be 
agreed to and published. 

Service Four: Monitoring of arts, culture, heritage, broadcasting and sport funded agencies:

(a) Develop and maintain programmes to enhance the governance, performance and operational capability of funded agencies

Funded Agency Monitoring – Economy and Efficiency Measures 2008/09

Measures Actual performance 2008/09

Output Costs (including overhead loading)
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Currency of Governance e-manual E-newsletters with relevant updates for board members were published and one 
information memorandum was sent to all board members. 
A Governance e-manual developed for arts, heritage, broadcasting and sport 
board members was maintained on-line at http://www.mch.govt.nz/agency/
boards/governance-manual.html.

Induction programme workshops held The Ministry held three workshops for new board members.

Service performance – arts, culture and 
heritage funded agencies

All standards of service performance were met during the period. For details on 
the standards of service performance see Part Four, Section Six Statement of 
Standards and Service Performance.

Service performance – public broadcasting 
funded agencies

All standards of service performance were met during the period. For details on 
the standards of service performance see Part Four, Section Six Statement of 
Standards and Service Performance.

Service performance – sports funded 
agencies

All standards of service performance we met during the period. For details on 
the standards of service performance see Part Four, Section Six Statement of 
Standards and Service Performance.
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Funded Agency Monitoring – Effectiveness (Impact) Measures 2008/09

Measures Actual performance 2008/09

(a) Enhancing funded-agency governance

Number of ‘board ready’ candidates 
available for nomination

The Ministry maintains a database with 900 entries for potential Board members 
at year end. This notes the various levels of board experience of the candidates.

Board appointments The Ministry provided advice to Ministers appointing to arts, heritage, 
broadcasting and sport Crown entities on vacancies, competencies sought, and 
strategic issues including board succession planning. 

Board Performance Most funded agencies completed a board self-evaluation, and issues identified 
through these evaluations are being used to inform advice on future 
appointments as well as the governance support programme in 2009/10.

Board induction programme feedback Positive feedback from board members attending workshops was received.

(b) Developing funded-agency capability

Board Chairs’ satisfaction with best practice 
support provided by the Ministry

Two workshops were held for funded agency chairs and chief executives as part 
of the CEO/Board relationship: Maximising the Partnership programme.
An assessment of the impact of our governance work has been taken place by 
an independent consultant, who conducted in-depth interviews with a sample 
of agency chairs. Their overall rating was ‘very good’, the highest of the options 
given. All comments made have been reviewed and considered to ensure they can 
be positively addressed in 2009/10.

Positive feedback on support programmes The Ministry has received positive comments on the support provided.

Greater Ministerial confidence in agency 
performance

Generally, Ministers have not raised concerns with the Ministry regarding agency 
capability to deliver current and future services.

(c) Implementation of the broadcasting charter evaluation framework

TVNZ reported against the agreed charter evaluation framework for the first time in its 2008 Annual Report.
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Service Five: Development of the cultural portal www.NZLive.com:

NZLive.com – Economy and Efficiency Measures 2008/09

Measures Actual performance 2008/09

Output Costs (including overhead loading)
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Service performance All standards of service performance were met during the period. For details on 
the standards of service performance see Part Four, Section Five Statement of 
Standards and Service Performance.

NZLive.com – Effectiveness (Impact) Measures 2008/09

Measures Actual performance 2008/09

Nation-wide events information NZLive.com has between 3,000 and 3,500 (up from 1500-2000 in 2008) events 
and attractions on the site at any one time. Events are from across the country 
and reflect a diverse range of cultures and interests.

Breadth of cultural content NZLive.com has published more than 60 articles and hundreds of news items 
about New Zealand culture in the last year.

Site visitors (unique visitors) 
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Change in unique visitors Unique visitors (unique browsers) increased 26% from the previous year (2008 – 
787,565; 2009 – 994,419). 
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Measures Actual performance 2008/09

Number of return visitors Numbers of return visitors have increased by 41% since the previous period.

Visitors to the Cultural Funding Guide Visits to the Cultural Funding Guide have increased by 55% since 2007/08.

Page views
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Change in page views Page views increased 10% from 2008 (2008 – 2,442,476; 2009 – 2,684,180).
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Directory of organisations The number of cultural organisations profiled (subscribed) has continued to rise 
with 650 organisations listed in June 2009 compared to 518 in June 2008. 

Range of channels used to market the 
website 

NZLive.com has developed a strategic relationship with Tourism New Zealand 
to share events, content and resources, to gain maximum exposure for New 
Zealand culture and cultural organisations.
Around 37 websites use NZLive.com content on their sites by taking RSS feeds.

Appropriation: Cultural Diplomacy International Programme
This appropriation has a value of $1.897 million which was invested in the management and delivery of an International Cultural 
Diplomacy Programme (CDIP) through a series of projects and activities primarily focused on Asia and in particular North Asia.
The CDIP emphasises growing an understanding of and engagement with New Zealand internationally as a means of supporting New 
Zealand’s economic interests.
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Cultural Diplomacy International Programme – Economy and Effi  ciency Measures 2008/09

Measures Actual performance 2008/09

Output Costs (including overhead loading)
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Contract budget performance All approved projects were delivered on time and within budget.

Contracts for each activity incorporate clear 
milestones and evaluation

All contracts incorporated clear milestones and evaluation.

Service performance All standards of service performance were met during the period. For details on 
the standards of service performance see Part Four, Section Five Statement of 
Standards and Service Performance.

Projects delivered Support for the Prime Minister’s visit to China and the opening of the NZTE •	
business centre in Shanghai

Support for the Royal New Zealand Ballet’s tour to China•	

Shanghai Tourism New Zealand Promotion•	

Major trade promotion focus activities in Korea•	

Contemporary Music and associated leveraging activities in Taipei•	

Manila New Zealand Festival•	

Bangkok Film Festival•	

Jakarta Film Festival•	

Singapore New Zealand Festival.•	

Cultural Diplomacy International Programme – Eff ectiveness (Impact) Measures 2008/09

Measures Actual performance 2008/09

Quality of audience (key contacts) All audiences included key contacts.

Audience and visitor feedback Positive feedback was received from audience and visitors.

Feedback from diplomatic posts and from 
offi  ces of Tourism New Zealand and New 
Zealand Trade and Enterprise

Positive feedback was received from New Zealand’s agencies (e.g. diplomatic 
posts) off shore. 

Breadth and depth of media coverage Th ere was signifi cant coverage of key projects across a range of media e.g. 
internet, television, print media.
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Section Th ree – Progress Towards Outcomes in 2008/09

Outcome Indicators are the key fi ve-year trends that illustrate progress towards the Ministry’s outcomes and are the result of the 
combined impact measures for the Ministry’s initiatives and services.7 

Outcome indicators describe the expected contribution of the Ministry’s initiatives and services to progress towards each outcome 
and answer the question ‘What diff erence are we making?

Th e Ministry assesses outcome indicator trends annually using combined impact measures on a “weight of evidence” basis. Longer-
term progress (3–5 yr) is subject to formal evaluation.

Outcome One
“Th e diversity, visibility and accessibility of our culture, and participation in cultural experiences, are enhanced.”

Outcome one emphasises both the diversity and visibility of New Zealand’s culture and participation by New Zealanders and 
international audiences in New Zealand cultural experiences. 

Appropriations: Heritage Services; Policy Advice and Monitoring of Funded Agencies.

Key Initiatives: Making New Zealand history accessible; providing New Zealand cultural experiences, resources and information 
online; safeguarding New Zealand’s heritage; advising government.

Outcome progress
Th e key progress indicator for Outcome One is ‘more people accessing more cultural information or experiences more often’. Th is 
indicator is measured through the Ministry’s day-to-day operations – for example, use of the Ministry’s digital resources through its 
websites www.TeAra.govt.nz (Th e Encyclopedia of New Zealand), www.NZLive.com and www.NZHistory.net.nz. Th e actual and 
desired trends for this indicator are:

Key indicator for Outcome One Desired 
(target) trend

Assessed trend 
2008/09

More people accessing more cultural information or experiences more often

Impact measures contributing to this indicator:
Site visitors, page views, additional content, breadth of content, return visitors, 
events listed, marketing channels, visitors per day, target audiences reached.

Legend:
Increasing trend  

Monitoring cost-eff ectiveness
Of the three Ministry outcomes, Outcome One off ers the most potential for measuring cost-eff ectiveness, particularly in relation to the 
online delivery of digital cultural resources. In this area the Ministry gathers extensive performance information on the use of its online 
resources. Th e following table shows the initial cost-eff ectiveness measure we have developed for Outcome One and the assessed actual 
trend for 2008/09:

7  Performance against Impacts is reported on Section Two – Operating Performance
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Cost- 
eff ectiveness 
indicator

Description Target / 
desired 
5yr trend 

Assessed Actual 
trend 2008

Content cost 
per user for the 
Ministry’s websites

As audiences access more online materials, the 
cost of producing the information is allocated 
over more users so the cost per user decreases.

Th is indicator is most relevant where the 
number of visitors and the level of engagement 
are signifi cant. Visitor data such as number 
of visits, length of stay, and number of pages 
viewed provide indicators of the user’s cultural 
experience.

Contributing 
measures

Average number of 
visits 2008/09*
up 18%

Average Page views 
2008/09* up 11%

Output Costs 
(including overhead 
loading) 2008/09 
up 3%

Legend: Decreasing trend   Increasing trend:  
* www.TeAra.govt.nz; www.NZLive.com; www.NZHistory.net.nz;

As the Ministry’s data-gathering capability increases, we will continue to develop cost-eff ectiveness measures where appropriate.

Outcome Two
“Th e programmes, services and products of funded agencies are of high quality and widely accessible.”

Appropriations: Policy Advice and Monitoring of Funded Agencies; Purchasing Advice and Monitoring of Sport and Recreation 
Crown Entities.

Key Activities: Monitoring of the government’s interest in cultural organisations, arts, heritage, broadcasting and sports agencies. Th e 
Ministry’s initiatives for Outcome Two also support:

Value for money for the government’s investment in cultural agencies•	

Ministerial confi dence in funded-agency performance.•	

Outcome progress
Th e key progress indicators for Outcome Two are funded agencies’ performance, quality of funded-agency programmes and target 
audience participation in funded-agency programmes. Th e third indicator will draw on information from the Ministry’s and funded 
agencies’ operations and will be reported in 2009/10 when there is suffi  cient data to assess on an annual basis. Th e desired trends for 
the indicators for Outcome Two are:
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Key indicators for Outcome Two Target / desired 
5yr trend

Assessed trend 
2008/09

Funded agencies’ performance (Governance)

Quality of funded-agency programmes (Capability)

Target audience participation in funded-agency programmes To be reported for 
2009/10

Impact measures contributing to this indicator:
Number of ‘board ready’ candidates available for nomination, board 
appointments, board performance; Board induction programme feedback; 
Board Chairs’ satisfaction with best practice support provided by the 
Ministry; Positive feedback on support programmes; Greater Ministerial 
confidence in agency performance. 

Legend: 
Increasing trend    

 Outcome Three
“The value and contribution of culture to New Zealand’s social, environmental and economic well-being is 
recognised.”

Appropriations: Policy Advice and Monitoring of Funded Agencies; Cultural Diplomacy International Programme.

Key Activities: Advising government and other agencies; promoting New Zealand’s cultural presence internationally.

Outcome progress
The key progress indicators for Outcome Three are an appreciation of New Zealand’s strengths, products and services in key regions 
offshore, and other agencies seeking Ministry input to their work. These indicators draw on the operating performance impact 
measures from the Ministry’s CDIP operations. The actual and desired trends for the Outcome Three indicators are:

Key indicators for Outcome Three Target / desired 
5yr trend

Assessed trend 
2008/09

Appreciation of New Zealand’s strengths, products and services in key 
regions offshore

Other agencies seeking Ministry input to their work

Impact measures contributing to this indicator: 
Quality of audience (key contacts); Audience and visitor feedback; Feedback 
from diplomatic posts and from offices of Tourism New Zealand and New 
Zealand Trade and Enterprise; Breadth and depth of media coverage; 
Ministry’s contribution to other agencies outcomes. 

Legend: 
Increasing trend    
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Anzac Day Act 1966 

Arts Council of New Zealand Toi Aotearoa Act 1994 

Broadcasting Act 1989 (Parts 1-4 and section 81) 

Flags, Emblems, and Names Protection Act 1981 (except for section 20)

Historic Places Act 1993 

Massey Burial-Ground Act 1925 

Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa Act 1992 

National War Memorial Act 1992 

New Zealand Film Commission Act 1978 

New Zealand Symphony Orchestra Act 2004 

Protected Objects Act 1975

Radio New Zealand Act 1995 

Radio New Zealand Act (No 2) 1995 

Seddon Family Burial-Ground Act 1924 

Sovereign’s Birthday Observance Act 1952 

Television New Zealand Act 2003 

Waitangi Day Act 1976

Note:

a) Antiquities Act 1975 is now the Protected Objects Act 1975.

Part Two – Legislation and Expenditure
Section Four – Legislation Administered by the Ministry

G.10 (09)
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Th e chart below displays the Vote structure in terms of appropriation types for 2008/09:

Section Five – Expenditure Administered by the Ministry 

$000

Departmental Output Expenses 15,165

Departmental Capital Expenses 377

Non-departmental Output Expenses 298,957

Non-departmental Other Expenses 39,107

Capital Expenditure 10,660

Total Annual and Permanent Appropriations 364,266

Departmental Output Expenses 4%

Departmental Capital Expenses 0%

Non-Departmental Output Expenses 82%

Non-Departmental Other Expenses 11%

Non-Departmental Capital Expenditure 3%

4%
0%

3%

11%

82%
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Section Five – Expenditure Administered by the Ministry 
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Th e chart below displays the proportion of funding from each non-departmental output to the total non-departmental output expenses:

$000

Management of Historic Places 12,514

Museum Services 24,644

Performing Arts Services 19,606

Promotion and Support of Arts and Film 19,548

Protection of Taonga Tūturu 116

Public Broadcasting Services 151,534

Drugs Testing of Sports Persons 2,085

Sport and Recreation Programmes 53,177

Children and Young People’s Lifestyles 15,733

Total Non-departmental Output Expenses 298,957

Management of Historic Places 4%

Museum Services 8%

Performing Arts Services 7%

Promotion and Support of Arts and Film 6%

Protection of Taonga Tūturu 1%

6%

1%

7%

8%

51%

Public Broadcasting Funding 51%

Children and Young People’s Lifestyles 5%

Drugs Testing of Sports Persons 1%

Sport and Recreation Programmes 17%

4%

5%

17%

1%
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Part Two – Legislation and Expenditure
Section Five – Expenditure Administered by the Ministry 

G.10 (09)

Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage 
In 2008/09 the Ministry incurred expenses of $13.545 million (GST exclusive) in the provision of services under the departmental 
outputs1 Heritage Services, International Cultural Diplomacy, and Policy Advice and Monitoring of Funded Agencies.
The Ministry also incurred the following expenditure against non-departmental appropriations administered on behalf of the 
Crown:

six outputs totalling $227.961 million for services supplied, mainly by arts, heritage and broadcasting Crown entities, •	
comprising: ballet, orchestral, museum, public broadcasting, film archive and Māori performing arts activities, protection for 
historic places, and the promotion and support of New Zealand films and the arts.

five other expenses appropriations totalling $33.008 million, being:•	

$2.374 million for New Zealand’s annual contribution to the Commonwealth War Graves Commission; ‒

$513,000 on the development and maintenance of war graves, historic graves and monuments in New Zealand and  ‒
overseas;

$287,000 contribution to costs of design, land purchase and construction of the Kerikeri Heritage Bypass to protect  ‒
nationally significant buildings (Kemp House and the Stone Store);

$29.547 million in grants to regional museums for capital construction projects; ‒

$287,000 towards the cost of Treaty commemorations held at Waitangi and communities elsewhere in New Zealand. ‒

$10 million capital contribution to Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa for ongoing capital expenditure for museum •	
operations, exhibition research and development, and acquisition of collection items.

$500,000 capital contribution to New Zealand Historic Places Trust for maintenance of historic properties.•	

$28,000 in capital works at the National War Memorial.•	

The Ministry was responsible for making payments for the services supplied under non-departmental appropriations, for ensuring 
that these appropriations were not exceeded, and for managing and monitoring on behalf of Ministers the Crown’s interests in these 
organisations.

 

1 Outputs are defined as goods or services supplied by departments and other entities to external parties. Outputs have a variety of types, including policy advice, he 
administration of grants, and the provision of specific services
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Vote Sport and Recreation 
In 2008/09 the Ministry incurred expenses of $98,000 (GST exclusive) in the provision of services under the departmental output 
Purchase Advice and Monitoring of Sport and Recreation Crown Entities.
The Ministry also administered the following non-departmental appropriations:

three outputs totalling $70.995 million for services supplied by Drug Free Sport New Zealand and Sport and Recreation New •	
Zealand (SPARC).

$4.25 million to Sport Education Scholarships to enable emerging and talented New Zealanders to pursue tertiary study and •	
elite-level sport development concurrently.

12 miscellaneous grants totalling $42,000 to support sports-related initiatives, including participation in sport and recreation •	
activities for groups, individuals and organisations that are unable to obtain support through organisations such as SPARC, 
local government and the New Zealand Lottery Grants Board.

The Ministry was responsible for making payments for the services supplied under non-departmental appropriations, for ensuring 
that these appropriations were not exceeded, and for managing and monitoring on behalf of Ministers the Crown’s interests in these 
organisations. 

Accountabilities 
The Chief Executive of the Ministry was accountable to the Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage for the production of the 
outputs under Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage detailed in the Statement of Objectives and Service Performance, and for the 
efficient use of the resources invested by the Crown in the Ministry. The Chief Executive of the Ministry was also accountable 
to the Minister for Sport and Recreation for the production of the output under Vote Sport and Recreation as detailed in the 
Statement of Objectives and Service Performance. Negotiated services were also provided to the Minister of Broadcasting, and to 
the Associate Ministers for Arts, Culture and Heritage until November 2008 under the former government.
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Statement of Responsibility 
In terms of the Public Finance Act 1989, I am responsible, as Chief Executive of the Ministry for Culture and Heritage, for the 
preparation of the Ministry’s fi nancial statements and statement of service performance, and for the judgments made in the process 
of producing those statements.

I have the responsibility of establishing and maintaining, and I have established and maintained, a system of internal control 
procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of fi nancial and non-fi nancial reporting.

In my opinion, these fi nancial statements and statement of service performance fairly refl ect the fi nancial position and 
operations of the Ministry for the year ended 30 June 2009.

Signed Countersigned

Lewis Holden Brett Banner
Chief Executive Chief Financial Offi  cer
30 September 2009 30 September 2009

 

Part Th ree – Financial Statements
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Part Three – Financial Statements G.10 (09)

Statement of Accounting Policies for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Reporting Entity

Th e Ministry for Culture and Heritage (the Ministry) is a government department as defi ned by section 2 of the Public Finance Act 
1989 and is domiciled in New Zealand.
In addition, the Ministry has reported on Crown activities and trust monies which it administers.

Th e primary objective of the Ministry is to provide services to the public rather than making a fi nancial return. Accordingly, the 
Ministry has designated itself as a public benefi t entity for the purposes of New Zealand equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS).

Reporting Period

Th e fi nancial statements of the Ministry are for the year ended 30 June 2009. Th e fi nancial statements were authorised for issue by 
the Chief Executive of the Ministry on 30 September 2009.

Basis of Preparation

Th e fi nancial statements of the Ministry have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Public Finance Act 1989, 
which includes the requirements to comply with New Zealand generally accepted accounting practices (NZ GAAP).

Th ese fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with, and comply with, NZ IFRS as appropriate for public benefi t 
entities. 

Th e accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these fi nancial statements.
Th e fi nancial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, modifi ed by the revaluation of certain assets and liabilities 

as identifi ed in this statement of accounting policies. 
Th e fi nancial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars 

($000). Th e functional currency of the Ministry is New Zealand dollars.
Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet eff ective that have not been early adopted, and which are relevant to 
the Ministry include:

NZ IAS 1 •	 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised 2007) replaces NZ IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (issued 
2004) and is eff ective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. Th e revised standard requires information 
in fi nancial statements to be aggregated on the basis of shared characteristics and to introduce a statement of comprehensive 
income. Th is will enable readers to analyse changes in equity resulting from transactions with the Crown in its capacity as 
‘owner’ separately from ‘non-owner’ changes. Th e revised standard gives the Ministry the option of presenting items of income 
and expense and components of other comprehensive income either in a single statement of comprehensive income with 
subtotals, or in two separate statements (a separate income statement followed by a statement of comprehensive income). 
Th e Ministry expects it will apply the revised standard for the fi rst time for the year ended 30 June 2010, and is yet to decide 
whether it will prepare a single statement of comprehensive income or a separate income statement followed by a statement of 
comprehensive income.

NZ IAS 23 •	 Borrowing Costs (revised 2007) replaces NZ IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (issued 2004) and is eff ective for reporting 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. Th e revised standard requires all borrowing costs to be capitalised if they are 
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. Th e Ministry intends to adopt this 
standard for the year ending 30 June 2010 and has not determined the potential impact of the new standard.
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Revenue 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received.

Revenue Crown
Revenue earned from the supply of outputs to the Crown is recognised as revenue when earned.

Other Revenue
Other departmental and third party revenue is predominantly derived through the undertaking of historical projects on a full cost-
recovery basis and from the State Services Commission which funds the State Sector Superannuation Retirement Savings Scheme 
and Kiwisaver. Revenue is recognised when earned and is reported in the financial period to which it relates. 

Capital Charge

The capital charge is recognised as an expense in the period to which the charge relates.

Leases 
Operating Leases
An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset. Lease 
payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term. The Ministry leases 
office premises. As the lessor retains all the risks and rewards of ownership, these leases are classified as operating leases. 

Financial Instruments 

The Ministry is party to financial instruments as part of its normal operations. These financial instruments include bank accounts, 
debtors and creditors. Revenue and expenses in relation to all financial instruments are recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance. All financial instruments are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at their estimated fair value. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash includes cash on hand and held in bank accounts. 

Debtors and Other Receivables

Debtors and other receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate, less impairment changes.
Impairment of a receivable is established when there is objective evidence that the Ministry will not be able to collect amounts due 
according to the original terms of the receivable. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter 
into bankruptcy, and default in payments are considered indicators that the debtor is impaired. The amount of the impairment 
is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted using the 
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount 
of the loss is recognised in the statement of financial performance. Overdue receivables that are renegotiated are reclassified as 
current (i.e. not past due).
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consist of leasehold improvements, furniture and fittings and office equipment.
Property, plant and equipment are shown at cost or valuation, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Individual assets or groups of assets are capitalised if their cost is greater than $2,000 and recorded at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation. The initial cost of an asset is the value of the consideration given to acquire or create the asset and 
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use, less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Leasehold improvement costs include significant project management and related fees. 

Additions

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic 
benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Ministry and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised at its cost. Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a 
nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Disposals

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. Gains and losses 
on disposals are included in the statement of financial performance. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in the 
property, plant and equipment revaluation reserves in respect of those assets are transferred to general funds.

Subsequent Costs

Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable that future economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the item will flow to the Ministry and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Depreciation 

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment, at rates that will write off the cost (or 
valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual values over their useful lives. The useful lives and associated depreciation rates of 
major classes of assets have been estimated as follows:

Office Furniture 5 years 20%

Personal Computers 3 years 33%

Other Computer Equipment 4 years 25%

Office Equipment 5 years 20%

Works of Art 100 years 1%

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated remaining useful lives of the 
improvements, whichever is shorter. Consequently, the depreciation rate for each asset will vary depending upon the lease period or 
useful life of the improvements when the work is completed. 

The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at each financial year end.
Items under construction are not depreciated. The total cost of a capital project is transferred to the appropriate asset class on its 

completion and then depreciated.

Revaluation

Asset classes are carried at depreciated historical cost. The carrying values of revalued items are reviewed at each balance date to 
ensure that those values are not materially different to fair value. Additions between revaluations are recorded at cost.
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Accounting for Revaluations

The Ministry accounts for revaluations of property, plant and equipment on a class of asset basis.
The results of revaluing are credited or debited to an asset revaluation reserve for that class of asset. Where this results in a debit 

balance in the asset revaluation reserve, this balance is expensed in the statement of financial performance. Any subsequent increase 
on revaluation that offsets a previous decrease in value recognised in the statement of financial performance will be recognised first 
in the statement of financial performance up to the amount previously expensed, and then credited to the revaluation reserve for 
that class of asset.

Intangible Assets

Software Acquisition
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific 
software. Software is capitalised if its cost is greater than $5,000.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense when incurred. 
Staff training costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Amortisation
The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life. Amortisation 
begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the date that the asset is derecognised. The amortisation charge for each 
period is recognised in the statement of financial performance.

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets have been estimated as follows: 

Acquired Computer Software 3 years 33%

Annual software licences 1 year 100%

Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that have a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use.

Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an asset where the future economic benefits or service potential of the asset 
are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net cash inflows and where the entity would, if deprived of the asset, 
replace its remaining future economic benefits or service potential.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is impaired and the carrying amount is written down to 
the recoverable amount. The total impairment loss is recognised in the statement of financial performance.

The reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the statement of financial performance.

Creditors and Other Payables

Creditors and other payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

Employee Entitlements

Short-term Employee Entitlements
Employee entitlements that the Ministry expects to be settled within 12 months of balance date are measured at nominal values 
based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay.
These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned but not yet taken at balance date, and retiring and 
long service leave entitlements expected to be settled within 12 months.
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The Ministry recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where it is contractually obliged to pay them, or where there is a past 
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Long-term Employee Entitlements
Entitlements that are payable beyond 12 months, such as long service leave and retiring leave have been calculated on an actuarial 
basis. The calculations are based on:

likely future entitlements based on years of service, years to entitlement, the likelihood that staff will reach the point of •	
entitlement and contractual entitlements information; and

the present value of the estimated future cash flows. Discount rates of 3.01%(year 1), 3.82% (year 2), and 5.96% (year 3) and a •	
long term salary inflation factor of 3.5% were used. The discount rate is based on the weighted average of government bonds 
with terms to maturity similar to those of the relevant liabilities. The inflation factor is based on the expected long-term 
increase in remuneration for employees.

Superannuation Schemes

Defined Contribution Schemes
Obligations for contributions to the State Sector Retirement Savings Scheme, Kiwisaver, the Government Superannuation Fund, 
and Global Retirement Trust Superannuation are accounted for as defined contribution schemes and are recognised as an expense 
in the statement of financial performance as incurred.

Taxpayers’ Funds 

Taxpayers’ funds is the Crown’s investment in the Ministry and is measured as the difference between total assets and total 
liabilities. Taxpayers’ funds is disaggregated and classified as general funds and property, plant and equipment revaluation reserves.

Commitments 

Expenses yet to be incurred on non-cancellable contracts that have been entered into on or before balance date are disclosed as 
commitments to the extent that there are equally unperformed obligations. Commitments relating to employment contracts are not 
disclosed. 

Cancellable commitments that have penalty or exit costs explicit in the agreement on exercising that option to cancel are 
included in the statement of commitments at the value of that penalty or exit cost.

Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

All items in the financial statements, including appropriation statements, are stated exclusive of GST, except for receivables and 
payables, which are stated on a GST inclusive basis. Where GST is not recoverable as input tax, then it is recognised as part of the 
related asset or expense.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue Department (IRD) is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing activities, is classified as 
an operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.

Income Tax

Government Departments are exempt from income tax as public authorities. Accordingly, no charge for income tax has been 
provided for. 
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Budget Figures

The budget figures are those included in the Ministry’s Statement of Intent for the year ended 30 June 2009, which are consistent 
with the financial information in the Main Estimates. In addition, the financial statements also present the updated budget 
information from the Supplementary Estimates.

Foreign Currency 

Foreign currency transactions are converted at the New Zealand dollar exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 

Statement of Cost Accounting Policies

The Ministry has determined the cost of outputs using the cost allocation system outlined below. 
Direct costs are charged directly to significant activities. Indirect costs are charged to significant activities based on cost drivers 

and related activity/usage information. 
Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an output. Indirect costs are those costs that cannot be identified, in an 

economically feasible manner, with a specific output. 
Direct costs are charged directly to outputs. Personnel costs are charged directly to the business unit within the output to which 

they belong. 
For the year ended 30 June 2009, direct costs accounted for 68% of the Ministry’s costs (2008: 70%). 
Indirect costs are assigned to business units based on the proportion of staff in the unit. 
For the year ended 30 June 2009, indirect costs accounted for 32% of the Ministry’s costs (2008: 30%). 

Changes in Accounting Policies 

Accounting policies are changed only if the change is required by a standard or interpretation or otherwise provides more reliable 
and more relevant information.
There have been no significant changes in cost accounting policies, since the date of the last audited financial statements.

Use of Critical Accounting Estimates, Judgments and Assumptions

In preparing these financial statements the Ministry has made estimates and assumptions concerning the future. These estimates 
and assumptions may differ from the subsequent actual results. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based 
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Retirement and Long Service Leave
Note 10 provides an analysis of the exposure in relation to estimates and uncertainties surrounding retirement and long service leave 
liabilities.
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Statement of Financial Performance for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

2008/09 2008/09 2008/09 2007/08

Note Actual Main 
Estimates

Supp. 
Estimates

Actual

$000 $000 $000 $000

Income

Revenue Crown 14,713 15,900 14,713 15,056

Revenue other – departments 1 407 166 432 348

Revenue other – third parties 1 17 – 20 136

Total income 15,137 16,066 15,165 15,540

Expenditure 

Personnel costs 2 8,452 8,215 8,642 7,899

Other operating expense 3 4,668 7,386 6,075 5,987

Depreciation and amortisation expense 4 438 380 363 318

Capital charge 5 85 85 85 91

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – – – 4

Total expenses 13,643 16,066 15,165 14,299

Net Surplus 1,494 – – 1,241

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial Statements. For information on 
major budget variances refer to Note 14 in the Notes to the Financial Statements (page 56).
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Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2009 

2008/09 2008/09 2008/09 2007/08 

Note Actual Main 
Estimates

Supp. 
Estimates

Actual 

$000 $000 $000 $000 

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3,112 1,093 1,265 1,893

Debtors and other receivables 6 241 150 240 1,258

Prepayments 33 80 75 53

Total current assets 3,386 1,323 1,580 3,204

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 7 913 1,098 1,037 1,086

Intangible assets 8 17 41 0 32

Total non-current assets 930 1,139 1,037 1,118

Total Assets 4,316 2,462 2,617 4,322

Liabilities

Current liabilities 

Creditors and other payables 9 1,139 845 960 1,440

Repayment of surplus to the Crown 1,494 – – 1,241

Employee entitlements 10 458 395 395 393

Total current liabilities 3,091 1,240 1,355 3,074

Non-current liabilities 

Employee entitlements 10 93 90 130 116

Total non-current liabilities 93 90 130 116

Total Liabilities 3,184 1,330 1,485 3,190

Taxpayers’ funds 1,132 1,132 1,132 1,132

The repayment of surplus is required to be paid by 31 October of each year.

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial Statements. 
For information on major budget variances refer to Note 14 in the Notes to the Financial Statements (page 56).

Signed Countersigned

Lewis Holden Brett Banner
Chief Executive Chief Financial Officer
30 September 2009 30 September 2009
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Funds for the Year Ended 30 June 2009 

2008/09 2008/09 2008/09 2007/08 

Actual Main 
Estimates

Supp. 
Estimates

Actual

$000 $000 $000 $000

Taxpayers’ funds as at 1 July 1,132 1,132 1,132 882

Net surplus 1,494 – – 1,241

Total recognised revenues and expenses for the year 1,494 – – 1,241

Repayment of surplus to the Crown (1,494) – – (1,241)

Capital contribution – – – 250

Taxpayers’ funds as at 30 June 1,132 1,132 1,132 1,132

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial Statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

2008/09 2008/09 2008/09 2007/08 

Actual Main 
Estimates

Supp. 
Estimates

Actual

$000 $000 $000 $000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from Crown 15,713 16,900 16,480 15,665

Receipts from revenue department/other 424 166 470 427

Payments to employees (8,339) (8,174) (8,642) (7,801)

Payments to suppliers (4,930) (7,427) (7,320) (5,263)

Goods and services tax (net) (73) – 87 (72)

Payments for capital charge (85) (85) (85) (91)

Net cash flows from operating activities 2,710 1,380 990 2,865

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (207) (350) (314) (501)

Purchase of intangible assets (43) (30) (63) (52)

Net cash flows from investing activities (250) (380) (377) (553)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Capital contribution – – – 250

Repayment of surplus (1,241) (735) (1,241) (1,176)

Net cash flows from financing activities (1,241) (735) (1,241) (926)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 1,219 265 (628) 1,386

Cash at beginning of year 1,893 828 1,893 507

Cash at the end of the year 3,112 1,093 1,265 1,893

The GST (net) component of operating activities reflects the net GST paid and received with the Inland Revenue Department. 
The GST (net) component has been presented on a net basis, as the gross amounts do not provide meaningful information for 
financial statement purposes.

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial Statements. 
For information on major budget variances refer to Note 14 in the Notes to the Financial Statements (page 54).
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Statement of Commitments as at 30 June 2009 
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
The Ministry leases property, plant and equipment in the normal course of its business; with the main commitment relating to the 
premises. The Ministry occupies Level Five (1,223.3sqm), part of Level One (424sqm) and part of the Ground Floor (158sqm) in 
Radio New Zealand (RNZ) House.

Other non-cancellable commitments
The Ministry has entered into non-cancellable contracts for computer maintenance, cleaning services, consulting services and other 
contracts for service.

2008/09 2007/08

Actual Actual

$000 $000

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments: 

Less than one year 457 457

One to two years 457 457

Two to five years 343 800

More than five years – –

Total non-cancellable operating lease commitments 1,257 1,714

Other non-cancellable commitments: 

Less than one year 304 –

One to two years – –

Two to five years 141 –

More than five years – –

Total non-cancellable operating lease commitments 445 –

Total non-cancellable commitments 1,702 1,714

The total cost incurred in rental and leasing costs in 2008/09 is $472,000. This figure includes the cost of renting two additional car 
parks under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The space allocation per person on Ministry office space at balance date is 
approximately 18 square meters.

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial Statements. 

Statement of Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets as at 30 June 2009
Quantifiable contingent liabilities and assets are as follows:

2008/09 2007/08

Actual Actual 

$000 $000 

Departmental – –

Non-Departmental – –
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Statement of Departmental Expenditure Against Appropriations for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

2008/09 2008/09 2008/09 2007/08

Expenditure 
Actual

Appropriation 
Main Estimates

Appropriation 
Supp. Estimates

Expenditure 
Actual 

$000 $000 $000 $000 

Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage 
Appropriations for output expenses 

Heritage Services 5,805 6,352 6,038 5,605

International Cultural Diplomacy 1,520 2,089 1,880 2,030

Policy Advice and Grants Administration 6,220 7,527 7,149 6,566

Total Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage 13,545 15,968 15,067 14,201

Vote Sport and Recreation 
Appropriations for output expenses

Purchase Advice and Monitoring of Sport and 
Recreation Crown Entities

98 98 98 98

Total Vote Sport and Recreation 98 98 98 98

Total 13,643 16,066 15,165 14,299

Appropriations provide each Vote Minister with the authority to spend public money or incur expenses or liabilities on behalf of 
the Crown.

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial Statements.

Changes to Appropriations in 2008/09 Supplementary Estimates
The Ministry’s 2008/09 departmental output appropriations were decreased by $901,000 in the 2008/09 Supplementary Estimates. 
A brief explanation for the changes to the three Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage departmental outputs is as follows.

Heritage Services: 

This appropriation was decreased by $314,000 due to:
a number of funding transfers from 2007/08 to 2008/09 for ongoing projects and subsequent funding transfers from 2008/09 •	
to 2009/10;

savings identified as part of the line by line budget review; and•	

an adjustment to overhead allocation; and •	

changes in departmental and third-party revenue.•	

International Cultural Diplomacy: 
This appropriation was decreased by $209,000 due to:

savings identified as part of the line by line budget review•	
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Policy Advice and Grants Administration: 

This appropriation was decreased by $378,000 due to:
a number of funding transfers from 2007/08 to 2008/09 for ongoing projects and subsequent funding transfers from 2008/09 •	
to 2009/10;

savings identified as part of the line by line budget review; and•	

an adjustment to overhead allocation; and •	

changes in departmental and third-party revenue.•	

Statement of Unappropriated Expenditure for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

2008/09 2008/09 2008/09 2007/08

Actual Main 
Estimates 

Supp. 
Estimates 

Unappropriated 
Expenditure 

$000 $000 $000 $000

Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage – – – –

Vote Sport and Recreation – – – –

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial Statements.

Statement of Trust Money Administered on Behalf of the Crown for the Year Ended 30 June 2009
The following trust money was administered on behalf of the Crown under Part VII of the Public Finance Act 1989. The statement 
shows the opening and closing net assets and the movements during the year.

Opening 
Net Assets  

2008/09

Capital 
Contributions 

Capital 
Distributions 

(Awards)

Revenue Expenses Closing 
Net Assets  

2008/09 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

New Zealand Encyclopedia 1 – – – (1) –

New Zealand Historical Atlas 106 – – 7 – 113

New Zealand History Research 1,448 – (100) 123 – 1,471

Australian Trust for Oral History 1,626 – (35) 137 (1) 1,727

Dictionary of New Zealand Biography 262 – – 19 (78) 203

War History 515 337 – 31 (3) 880

Total 3,958 337 (135) 317 (83) 4,394
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Under the Public Finance Act 1989 and by delegation from the Secretary to the Treasury, trust money can only be invested on 
deposit with New Zealand registered banks or in New Zealand Government Stock. Trust money is also managed so there is no 
significant concentration of credit risk. Interest rate risk is managed by investing across a wide range of maturity dates, but subject 
to liquidity requirements.

New Zealand Encyclopedia Trust

This trust was established to hold New Zealand Lottery Grants Board funds to be used for the feasibility study on the 
production of the Encyclopedia of New Zealand. The purpose for the trust has now been satisfied and consequently the trust 
was disestablished in 2008/09. Remaining funds ($259.63) will be returned to the Treasury in October along with the Ministry’s 
surplus. 

New Zealand Historical Atlas Trust

This trust was established to hold New Zealand Lottery Grants Board funds, donations and royalties from sales to be used for the 
production of the New Zealand Historical Atlas and subsidiary volumes.

New Zealand History Research Trust

This trust was established to hold New Zealand Lottery Grants Board funds to make awards to individuals and groups for 
historical research and writing projects. During the 2008/09 financial year 10 awards in history were made totalling $100,000 and 
ranging in value from $6,000 to $12,000 (2007/08: 11 awards; $100,000; $4,000 to $25,000). 

Australian Sesquicentennial Gift Trust for Awards in Oral History

This trust was established to hold funds from the Government of the Commonwealth of Australia, gifted to New Zealand in 1990 
specifically to gather oral histories of importance to New Zealand. The income from these funds is used for the promotion of oral 
history in New Zealand. During the 2008/09 financial year ten awards in oral history were made totalling $34,500 and ranging in 
value from $1,500 to $35,000 (2007/08: 11 awards; $60,500; $2,000 to $12,000).

Dictionary of New Zealand Biography Trust

This trust was established to hold funds from the New Zealand Lottery Grants Board, funds from publication sales, and funds 
raised by private sponsorship or fundraising for the production of the Dictionary of New Zealand Biography and subsidiary volumes.

War History Trust

This trust was established to hold funds bequeathed to the Ministry for Culture and Heritage by Mr Watson, a long-time supporter 
of research into New Zealand’s military history. The funds and any interest income are to be used for the researching and writing of 
works on New Zealand’s involvement in overseas conflicts.
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Note 1: Revenue Other
Revenue Other was derived from the following sources:

2008/09 2007/08 

Other 
Government 

Departments 
$000 

Other Sources 

$000

Other 
Government 

Departments
$000

Other Sources 

$000

Contract history projects 175 – 102 –

Seconded staff 49 – 83 50

State Sector Retirement Savings Scheme (SSRSS)
–recovery from State Services Commission 

169 – 161 –

Contribution towards Digital Broadcasting Strategy 
project

– – – 60

Publication sales/royalties – 15 – 25

Kiwisaver recoveries 13 – – –

Antiquities dealers’ licences – 2 2 1

Total revenue other 406 17 348 136

Note 2: Personnel Costs

2008/09 2007/08 

Actual Actual 

$000 $000 

Salaries and wages 7,869 7,305

Training and development 183 174

Employer contributions to superannuation funds* 246 218

Other personnel costs 154 202

Total personnel costs 8,452 7,899

* Employer contributions to defi ned contribution plans include contributions to the State Sector Retirement Savings Scheme, Kiwisaver, Government 
Superannuation Fund and the Global Retirement Trust Superannuation. 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2009
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Note 3: Other Operating Expenses

2008/09 2007/08 

Actual Actual 

$000 $000 

Administration costs 1,782 2,582

Rental and leasing costs 472 476

Other occupancy costs 214 237

Publicity and research 194 248

Information communication technology 741 725

Transfers to International Cultural Diplomacy Programme agencies 1,223 1,675

Audit fees for financial statement audit (Audit New Zealand) 42 38

Audit fees for NZ IFRS transition (Audit New Zealand) – 6

Total operating costs 4,668 5,987

Note 4: Depreciation and Amortisation

2008/09 2007/08 

Actual Actual 

$000 $000 

Depreciation – Property, Plant and Equipment

Computer equipment 93 83

Office equipment 19 21

Office furniture 52 17

Leasehold improvements 216 143

Works of Art – –

Amortisation – Intangible Assets

Computer software 58 54

Total depreciation and amortisation 438 318

Note 5: Capital Charge 
The Ministry pays a capital charge to the Crown on its taxpayers’ funds as at 30 June and 31 December each year. The capital charge 
rate for the year ended 30 June 2009 was 7.5% (2008: 7.5%).
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Note 6: Debtors and Other Receivables

2008/09 2007/08 

Actual Actual 

$000 $000 

Debtor Crown – 1,000

Trade debtors 181 258

GST receivables 60 –

Total debtors and other receivables 241 1,258

The carrying value of debtors and other receivables approximates their fair value.

As at 30 June 2009 all overdue trade debtors have been assessed for impairment as detailed below (a provision is not required):

2008 2009

Gross Impairment Net Gross Impairment Net

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Not past due 241 – 241 181 – 181

Past due 1–30 days – – – – – –

Past due 31–60 days – – – – – –

Past due 61–90 days – – – – – –

Past due > 91 days 17 – 17 – – –

Total 258 – 258 181 – 181

A provision for doubtful debts has not been calculated. No losses are expected for the Ministry’s pool of debtors.
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Note 7: Property, Plant and Equipment 

 Computer 
Equipment

Office 
Equipment

Office 
Furniture

Leasehold 
Improvements

Works of 
Art

Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Cost or Valuation 

Balance at 1 July 2007 562 170 365 1,084 20 2,201

Additions 83 16 173 229 – 501

Disposals (25) (18) (158) – – (201)

Other asset adjustment (rounding) – (1) – – – (1)

Balance at 30 June and 1 July 2008 620 167 380 1,313 20 2,500

Additions 90 14 29 71 – 204

Disposals (29) (17) – – – (46)

Other asset adjustment (rounding) – 1 – 1 1 3

Balance at 30 June 2009 681 165 409 1,385 21 2,661

Accumulated Depreciation and 
Impairment Losses

Balance at 1 July 2007 414 110 301 523 – 1,348

Depreciation expense 83 21 17 143 – 264

Elimination on disposal (25) (17) (156) – – (198)

Impairment losses – – – – – –

Balance at 30 June and 1 July 2008 472 114 162 666 – 1,414

Depreciation expense 93 19 52 216 – 380

Elimination on disposal (29) (17) – – – (46)

Impairment losses – – – – – –

Balance at 30 June 2009 536 116 214 882 – 1,748

Carrying Amounts

At 1 July 2007 148 60 64 561 20 853

At 30 June and 1 July 2008 148 53 218 647 20 1,086

At 30 June 2009 145 49 195 503 21 913



53

Part Three – Financial Statements
Notes to the Financial Statements

G.10 (09)

Note 8: Intangible Assets 

 Acquired 
Software

$000 

Cost or Valuation

Balance at 1 July 2007 280

Additions 52

Disposals (167)

Other asset adjustment (rounding) (1)

Balance at 30 June and 1 July 2008 164

Additions 43

Disposals –

Balance at 30 June 2009 207

Accumulated Amortisation and Impairment Losses

Balance at 1 July 2007 245

Depreciation expense 54

Elimination on disposal (167)

Impairment losses –

Balance at 30 June and 1 July 2008 132

Amortisation expense 58

Elimination on disposal –

Impairment losses –

Balance at 30 June 2009 190

Carrying Amounts

At 1 July 2007 35

At 30 June and 1 July 2008 32

At 30 June 2009 17

There are no restrictions over the title of the Ministry’s intangible assets, 
nor are any intangible assets pledged as security for liabilities.
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Note 9: Creditors and Other Payables

 2008/09 2007/08 

Actual Actual 

$000 $000 

Trade creditors 213 943

PAYE payable 88 87

GST payable - 13

Accrued expenses 838 397

Total creditors and payables 1,139 1,440

Creditors and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms, therefore the carrying value of 
creditors and other payables approximates their fair value.

Note 10: Employee Entitlements

 2008/09 2007/08 

Actual Actual 

$000 $000 

Current employee entitlements are represented by:   

Annual leave 385 341

Long-service leave 73 52

Total current portion 458 393

Non-current employee entitlements are represented by: 

Long-service leave 39 22

Retirement leave 54 94

Total non-current portion 93 116

Total employee entitlements 551 509

The present value of the retirement and long service leave obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an 
actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. Two key assumptions used in calculating this liability are the discount rate and the 
salary inflation factor. Any changes in these assumptions will impact on the carrying amount of the liability.

In determining the appropriate discount rate the Ministry considered the interest rates on NZ Government Bonds which 
have terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. The salary inflation factor has been 
determined after considering historical salary inflation patterns and after obtaining advice from an independent actuary. 

If the discount rate were to differ by 1% from the Ministry’s estimates, with all other factors held constant, the carrying amount 
of the liability would be an estimated $4,000 higher/lower. 

If the salary inflation factor were to differ by 1% from the Ministry’s estimates, with all other factors held constant, the carrying 
amount of the liability would be an estimated $4,000 higher/lower.
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Note 11: Reconciliation of Net Surplus to Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities for the Year 
Ended 30 June 2009

2008/09 2007/08 

Actual Actual 

$000 $000 

Net surplus/(deficit) 1,494 1,241

Add/(less) non-cash items: 

Depreciation and amortisation 438 318

Inc/(decrease) in non-current employee entitlements (23) 26

Total non-cash items 415 344

Add/(less) items classified as investing or financing activities: 

(Gains)/losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 4

Add/(less) movements in working capital items: 

(Inc)/decrease in debtors and other receivables 1,017 552

(Inc)/decrease in prepayments 20 37

Inc/(decrease) in creditors and other payables (301) 655

Inc/(decrease) in current employee entitlements 65 32

Net movements in working capital items 801 1,276

Net cash flows from operating activities 2,710 2,865

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial Statements.

Note 12: Financial Instruments 
The Ministry’s activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including credit risk, currency risk, interest rate risk 
and liquidity rate risk. The Ministry has a series of policies to manage the risks associated with financial instruments and seeks 
to minimise exposure from financial instruments. These policies do not allow any transactions that are speculative in nature to be 
entered into.

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligations to the Ministry, causing the Ministry to incur a loss. 
In the normal course of its business the Ministry incurs credit risk from trade debtors and transactions with financial 

institutions.
The Ministry does not require any collateral or security to support financial instruments with financial institutions that the 

Ministry deals with as these entities have high credit ratings. For its other financial instruments the Ministry does not have 
significant concentrations of credit risk.
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Currency Risk 

Currency risk is the risk that debtors and creditors due in foreign currency will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange 
rates. Owing to the nature and limited number of foreign exchange transactions undertaken, the Ministry has no significant 
exposure to currency risk.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. This could 
impact on the return on investments or the cost of borrowing. The Ministry has no significant exposure to interest rate risk on its 
financial instruments.

Under section 46 of the Public Finance Act the Ministry cannot raise a loan without Ministerial approval, and no such loans 
have been raised. Accordingly, there is no interest rate exposure for funds borrowed (30 June 2008: Nil).

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Ministry will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they fall due.
In meeting its liquidity requirements, the Ministry closely monitors its forecast cash requirements with expected cash 

drawdown’s from the New Zealand Debt Management Office. The Ministry maintains a target level of available cash to meet 
liquidity requirements.

The Ministry’s financial liabilities will be settled in less than six months. The amounts disclosed are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. 

Note 13: Related-party Information
The Ministry is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The government significantly influences the roles of the Ministry as well as 
being its major source of revenue.

The Ministry enters into numerous transactions with other government departments, Crown entities and state-owned 
enterprises on an arm’s length basis. Those transactions that occur within a normal supplier or client relationship on terms and 
conditions no more or less favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect the Ministry would have adopted if dealing with 
that entity at arm’s length in the same circumstance are not disclosed.

There were two close family members of the senior management team employed briefly by the Ministry during the year at a 
combined cost of $5,500. The terms and conditions of their employment were no more favourable than the Ministry would have 
implemented in any other circumstances.

No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties.

Note 14: Variance Explanations 
Explanations for major variances from the Ministry’s estimated figures in the Statement of Intent are as follows.
Statement of Financial Performance 

Personnel costs
Personnel costs are $278,000 higher than budgeted due to higher than expected increases in remuneration (than at the time of 
preparing the 2008/09 main estimates). 
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Operating costs
Operating costs are $2.759 million lower than budgeted in the Statement of Intent mainly due to timing differences for various 
projects which span a number of financial years, and savings returned as part of the line by line budget review. Approval in-principle 
was obtained to carry forward unspent operating funding in the 2008/9 financial year to 2009/10 for:

First World War Centenary Project $20,000•	

NZLive.com $230,000•	

Public Education Initiative and the Monitoring of Digital TV Take-up $80,000•	

Vietnam War Oral History Project $70,000 •	

The above in-principle expense transfers total $400,000 and account for some of the variance between the 2008/09 total expenses 
(Actual) and total revenue (Supplementary Estimates) recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance. The actual amount 
of expense transfers is restricted to the amount of unspent appropriation available under the outputs to which the above activities 
relate (refer Statement of Departmental Expenditure Against Appropriations).

The Ministry returned a total of $730,000 as part of the line by line budget review, and this is the other significant factor 
reducing total revenue. During 2008/09 a total of $1.6 million was expense transferred from 2008/09 to 2009/10. The projects are 
as follows:

NZLive.com $300,000•	

Various Departmental projects $1,300,000•	

The $1.494 million operating surplus was primarily generated from the timing differences mentioned above. This surplus will be 
returned to the Crown as required under the Public Finance Act 1989.

Statements of Financial Position and Cash Flows 

Debtors and Other Receivables
Debtors and other receivables are $91,000 higher than budgeted mainly due to the $60,000 balance for GST, which arose because 
of the May 2009 revenue Crown drawn downs from the NZDMO.

Creditors and Payables
Creditors and other payables are $294,000 higher than budgeted due to creditors submitting final invoices for work that was not 
finalised until late June 2009. In particular a significant invoice associated with the Ministry’s International Cultural Diplomacy 
Programme. When preparing the budget figures for the Statement of Intent it was envisaged that this project would be completed 
well before June 2009. The increase in total employee entitlements is mainly due to an increase in untaken annual leave, and 
milestone anniversaries being reached by some of the employees who are entitled to retirement leave.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Capital expenditure is $209,000 lower than budgeted due to expenditure on computer equipment. The Ministry revised it’s 
computer equipment plans during 2008/09, and this expenditure will now occur during 2009/10.

Working Capital
The Ministry’s working capital position in 2008/09 ($295,000) improved by $165,000 compared to 2007/08 ($130,000). 
Contributing factors include: capital expenditure was only $208,000 in 2008/09, and the residual capital expenditure was less than 
the depreciation and amortisation expense incurred.

Statement of Cash Flows

Cash outflows for payments to suppliers was less than budgeted due to the timing differences and late submission of invoices 
mentioned above, and the expense and in principle expense transfers previously mentioned. 
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Note 15: Key Management Personnel Compensation

Total Remuneration 30 June 2009 30 June 2008

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 1,390 1,461

Post-employment benefits – –

Other long-term benefits 2 30

Termination benefits – –

Total key management personnel compensation 1,392 1,491

Key management personnel include the Chief Executive and the nine senior managers  
(2008: the Chief Executive and nine senior managers).

Note 16: Post Balance Date Events
There are no significant post balance date events to report (2008: nil).
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Reporting Entity 
Th ese non-departmental schedules and statements present fi nancial information on public funds managed by the Ministry on 
behalf of the Crown.

Th ese non-departmental balances are consolidated into the Financial Statements of the Government. For a full understanding 
of the Crown’s fi nancial position, results of operations and cash fl ows for the year, reference should also be made to the Financial 
Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2009.

Statement of Accounting Policies: Non-Departmental 
Th e non-departmental schedules and statements have been prepared in accordance with the Government’s accounting policies as set 
out in the Financial Statements of the Government, and in accordance with relevant Treasury Instructions and Treasury Circulars. 

Measurement and recognition rules applied in the preparation of these non-departmental schedules and statements are 
consistent with New Zealand generally accepted accounting practice, as appropriate for public benefi t entities. 

Th e accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these fi nancial statements. Th e 
following particular accounting policies have been applied:

Budget Figures

Th e budget fi gures are those included in the Ministry’s Statement of Intent for the year ended 30 June 2009, which are consistent 
with the fi nancial information in the Main Estimates. In addition, these fi nancial statements also present the updated budget 
information from the Supplementary Estimates.

Foreign Exchange

Foreign currency transactions are translated into New Zealand dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at 
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the schedule of non-
departmental income or expenses.

Th e Crown uses a foreign exchange forward contract to manage a foreign exchange exposure. Th e notional principal amount 
outstanding at balance date on the hedged purchase commitment with respect to the annual payment made to the Commonwealth 
War Graves Commission to maintain overseas war graves and memorials was $2.883 million (30 June 2008: 2.643 million). 

Revenue

Revenue from fi nes and other receipts are recognised when received.

Grant Expenditure

Non-discretionary grants are those grants awarded if the grant application meets the specifi ed criteria and are recognised as 
expenditure when an application that meets the specifi ed criteria for the grant has been received.

Discretionary grants are those grants where the Ministry has no obligation to award on receipt of the grant application and 
are recognised as expenditure when approved by the grants approvals committee and the approval has been communicated to the 
applicant.

Goods and Services Tax

All items in the fi nancial statements, including appropriation statements, are stated exclusive of GST, except for receivables and 
payables, which are stated on a GST inclusive basis. In accordance with Treasury instructions, GST is returned on revenue received 
on behalf of the Crown, where applicable. However, an input tax deduction is not claimed on non-departmental expenditure. 
Instead, the amount of GST applicable to non-departmental expenditure is recognised as a separate expense and eliminated against 
GST revenue on consolidation of the government’s fi nancial statements.

Non-departmental Schedules and Statements: 
Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage and Vote Sport and Recreation 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment assets comprise the National War Memorial and the Massey War Memorial, administered on behalf 
of the Crown. These assets are carried at fair value less subsequent impairment losses and, for non-land assets, less subsequent 
accumulated depreciation. These assets are revalued at least every three years. In the intervening period between the scheduled 
revaluations if it is established that the memorial’s carrying value may be materially different from its fair value a revaluation will be 
sought. 

Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis at rates calculated to allocate the cost or valuation of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life, as follows:

Buildings 2%

Schedule of Non-departmental Revenue and Receipts for the Year Ended 30 June 2009
The schedule of revenue and receipts summarises non-departmental revenue that the Ministry collects on behalf of the Crown.

2008/09 2008/09 2007/08 

Actual Forecast* Actual 

$000 $000 $000

Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage 

Broadcasting Standards Authority – fines 14 13 24

London Memorial – return of funds 196 – –

Total Arts, Culture and Heritage 210 13 24

Vote Sport and Recreation

SPARC – Return of funds held on behalf of the Crown –  
Prime Minister’s Sport Scholarships 

– – 6,490

Total Sport and Recreation – – 6,490

Total non-departmental revenue and receipts 210 13 6,514

These schedules are to be read in conjunction with the accompanying Statement of Accounting Polices.

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to the consolidated Financial 
Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2009.

* This includes adjustments made in the Supplementary Estimates.
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Schedule of Non-departmental Expenses for the Year Ended 30 June 2009
The schedule of expenses summarises non-departmental expenses that the Ministry administers on behalf of the Crown. 
Further details are provided in the Statement of Non-departmental Expenditure and Appropriations on page 57.

2008/09 2008/09 2007/08 

Expenditure Appropriation Expenditure 

Actual Voted * Actual 

$000 $000 $000 

Grants, subsidy and benefit expenses 33,839 34,129 12,282

Other operating expenses 304,232 307,019 302,876

Depreciation – buildings 185 185 185

GST input expense 42,020 42,836 38,460

Total non-departmental expenditure 380,276 384,156 353,803

These schedules are to be read in conjunction with the accompanying Statement of Accounting Polices.

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to the consolidated Financial 
Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2009.

* This includes adjustments made in the Supplementary Estimates.

Statement of Non-departmental Expenditure and Capital Expenditure against Appropriations for 
the Year Ended 30 June 2009
The Statement of Non-departmental Expenditure and Appropriations details expenditure incurred against each appropriation 
administered by the Ministry on behalf of the Crown.

 2008/09 2008/09 2007/08 

Expenditure Appropriation Expenditure 

Actual Voted * Actual 

$000 $000 $000 

Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage 

Appropriation for non-departmental output expenses

Management of Historic Places 12,514 12,514 10,859

Museum Services 24,644 24,644 21,744

Performing Arts Services 19,606 19,606 18,283

Promotion and Support of the Arts and Film 19,548 19,548 25,563

Protection of Taonga Tūturu 115 116 79

Public Broadcasting Services 151,534 151,534 156,919

Total appropriations for output expenses 227,961 227,962 233,447
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 2008/09 2008/09 2007/08 

Expenditure Appropriation Expenditure 

Actual Voted * Actual 

$000 $000 $000 

Appropriation for other expenses to be incurred by the Crown 

Commonwealth War Graves 2,374 2,374 2,643

Development and Maintenance of War Graves, Historic Graves and 
Monuments

513 516 516

Stabilisation of the Nurses’ Hostel at Hamner Springs – 1,500 –

Gallipoli Memorial Projects – – –

Kerikeri Heritage Bypass 287 588 2,556

Regional Museums 29,547 29,547 7,989

Treaty of Waitangi Commemorations 287 288 288

Total appropriations for other expenses to be incurred by the Crown 33,008 34,813 13,992

Appropriation for capital expenditure 

Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa 10,000 10,000 10,000

New Zealand Historic Places Trust 500 500 2,000

New Zealand Film Commission – – 946

Radio New Zealand – – 521

National War Memorial 28 160 –

Total appropriations for capital expenditure 10,528 10,660 13,467

Total Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage 271,497 273,435 260,906

Vote Sport and Recreation 

Appropriation for non-departmental output expenses

Sports Anti-Doping 2,085 2,085 1,691

Sport, Fitness and Leisure Programmes 53,177 53,177 52,288

Children and Young People’s Lifestyles 15,733 15,733 9,632

Total appropriations for output expenses 70,995 70,995 63,611

Appropriation for benefits and other unrequited expenses 

Sport Education Scholarships 4,250 4,250 4,250

Total appropriations for benefits and other unrequited expenses 4,250 4,250 4,250

Appropriation for other expenses to be incurred by the Crown 

Miscellaneous Grants 42 44 43

Total appropriations for other expenses to be incurred by the Crown 42 44 43

Total Vote Sport and Recreation 75,287 75,289 67,904

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying Statement of Accounting Policies.

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to the consolidated Financial 
Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2009.

* This includes adjustments made in the Supplementary Estimates. 
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Details of Multi-Year Appropriation (MYA) for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Appropriation 2008/09 

$000 

New Zealand Screen Production Incentive Fund Multi-Year Appropriation 68,500 

Commencement Date July 2008

Expiry Date June 2013

Opening Balance –

Actual Expenditure 2008/09 2,000

Total Accumulated Expenditure 2,000

Appropriation Remaining 66,500

Explanation of major budget variances
Explanations for major variances from the Ministry’s non-departmental estimated figures in the Main Estimates are as follows:

Schedule of Non-departmental Revenue and Receipts

$196,000 was returned to the Crown for unspent funding associated with the London Memorial project. It was anticipated this •	
funding would be required for warranty and completion during 208/09. However, the expenditure did not eventuate.

Schedule of Non-departmental expenditure and capital expenditure against appropriations

Approval was obtained in-principle to carry forward to 2009/10 the remaining $301,000 towards the construction of the •	
Kerikeri Heritage Bypass, to protect the nationally significant heritage buildings Kemp House and the Stone Store. Delays have 
occurred during the consultation and consent processes and the construction of the footbridge is whether dependant.

The National War Memorial was $132,000 underspent due to unanticipated delays late in the 2008/09 financial year. The •	
remaining capital work will now be completed during 2009/10.

Stabilisation of the Heritage Nurses’ Hostel at Hamner Springs was $1.5million underspent and will now be spent in 2009/10 •	
on earthquake strengthening and stabilization of the heritage buildings.

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying Statement of Accounting Policies.

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to the consolidated Financial 
Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2009.

Schedule of Recipients of Non-departmental Outputs Funding for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Recipient $000 

Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage

Management of Historic Places 

Antarctic Heritage Trust 526

New Zealand Historic Places Trust 11,988

12,514

Museum Services

Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa 23,574

New Zealand Film Archive 1,070

24,644
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Recipient $000 

Performing Arts Services 

New Zealand Symphony Orchestra 13,446

Royal New Zealand Ballet 3,534

Aotearoa Traditional Māori Performing Arts Society 1,248

New Zealand Music Commission 1,378

19,606

Promotion and Support of the Arts and Film 

Arts Council of New Zealand Toi Aotearoa (Creative New Zealand) 15,937

New Zealand Film Commission 3,611

19,548

Protection of Taonga Tūturu 

Museums and conservation service providers 115

115

Public Broadcasting Services

Broadcasting Commission (NZ On Air) 127,568

Television New Zealand 13,757

National Pacific Radio Trust 2,700

Radio New Zealand International 1,900

Broadcasting Standards Authority 609

Freeview 5,000

151,534

Total Vote Arts Culture and Heritage 227,961

Vote Sport and Recreation

Sports Anti-Doping

Drug Free Sport New Zealand 2,085

2,085

Sport, Fitness and Leisure Programmes

Sport and Recreation New Zealand 53,177

53,177

Children and Young People’s Lifestyles

Sport and Recreation New Zealand 15,733

15,733

Total Vote Sport and Recreation 70,995

This schedule is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying Statement of Accounting Policies.

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to the consolidated Financial 
Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2009.
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Schedule of Non-departmental Assets as at 30 June 2009

2008/09 2008/09 2007/08

Actual Forecast Actual

$000 $000 $000

Assets

Current assets 

Cash at bank and at hand 5,254 5,072 2,304

Total current assets 5,254 5,072 2,304

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment: 

Land 

– Massey Memorial (at valuation 30 June 2009) 550 580 580

– National War Memorial (at valuation 30 June 2009) 5,530 5,300 5,300

– New Zealand Memorial Park (at cost) 4,967 4,967 4,967

Total land 11,047 10,847 10,847

Buildings 

– Massey Memorial (at valuation 30 June 2009) 1,250 980 980

Accumulated depreciation – (60) (40)

– National War Memorial (at valuation 30 June 2009) 8,530 8,440 8,280

Accumulated depreciation – (495) (330)

Buildings carrying value 9,780 8,865 8,890

Total non-current assets 20,827 19,712 19,737

Total assets 26,081 24,784 22,041

The following points should be noted in addition to the above asset disclosures: 
In addition the Ministry monitors a number of Crown Entities. The investment in those entities is recorded within the financial •	
statements of the Government on a line-by-line basis. No disclosure is made in this schedule.

The National War Memorial and Massey War Memorial were revalued as at 30 June 2009. This revaluation resulted in an •	
increment to the buildings revaluation reserve of $250,000 for the National War Memorial and $270,000 for the Massey 
Memorial, and an increment to the land revaluation reserve of $230,000 for the National War Memorial and $30,000 decrease 
for the Massey Memorial. The valuation was completed by Beca Valuations (independent valuer) using market-based evidence 
(land) and depreciated replacement cost (buildings) in accordance with accounting standard IAS 16. Both Memorials will be 
revalued to fair value as at 30 June 2012. Balance of revaluation reserve at 30 June 2009 for land ($4.770million) and buildings 
($1.675million). Buildings are depreciated at 2% per annum on a straight-line basis.

This schedule is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying Statement of Accounting Policies.
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Schedule of Non-departmental Liabilities as at 30 June 2009

2008/09 2008/09 2007/08

Actual Forecast Actual

$000 $000 $000

Current Liabilities 

Creditors and other payables 172 950 1,023

Total liabilities 172 950 1,023

This schedule is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying Statement of Accounting Policies. 

Schedule of Non-departmental Commitments as at 30 June 2009
The schedule sets out the level of commitment made against out-year appropriations and funding baselines for Non-departmental 
expenditure. These commitments are established through formalised agreements.

2008/09 2007/08

Actual Actual

$000 $000

Non-cancellable operating commitments: 

Less than one year 154,063 168,567

One to two years – –

Two to five years – –

More than five years – –

Total non-cancellable operating commitments 159,063 168,567

Non-cancellable capital commitments: 

Less than one year 9,000 500

One to two years – –

Two to five years – –

More than five years – –

Total non-cancellable capital commitments 9,000 500

Total Non-departmental commitments 168,063 169,067

The 2007/08 Crown commitments were not disclosed in last year’s Annual Report, but have been included in the above table for comparative purposes.

Schedule of Non-departmental Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets as at 30 June 2009
The Ministry on behalf of the Crown has no contingent liabilities or contingent assets (2008: nil).
This schedule is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying Statement of Accounting Policies.

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to the consolidated Financial 
Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2009.
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Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage
Th e service performance measures and quality standards (covering quantity, quality or timeliness) for each output and sub-output 
are as follows:

OuTPuT 1: HERITAgE SERVICES

Description: 
Th is output involves: 

Th e research, writing and publication of New Zealand history and reference works, including Te Ara – Th e Encyclopedia of •	
New Zealand

Th e administration of grants and the provision of advice in New Zealand history•	

Th e management of national monuments, war graves and historic graves•	

Th e administration of legislation relating to commemorative days and to the symbols and emblems of New Zealand sovereignty•	

Th e administration of the Government Exhibition Indemnifi cation Scheme •	

Th e administration of the Protected Objects Act 1975. •	

OuTPuT 1.1: HISTORICAL PuBLICATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES

(a) Service Performance measures

Measures 2008/09 
Budget 
Performance

2008/09 
Actual 
Performance

Comments

Acceptance of Ministerial submissions in relation 
to the Flags, Emblems and Names Protection Act

100% 100%

Administration of Protected Objects Act

Export application decisions overturned on appeal Nil Nil

Administration of the Government Exhibition Indemnifi cation Scheme

Compliance with indemnifi cation criteria 100% 100%

Applicant timing requirements met 100% 100%

Administration of legislation relating to commemorative days and the symbols and emblems of NZ sovereignty

Acceptance of Ministerial submissions 100% 100%

Th e research, writing and publication of NZ history and reference works

Part Four – Standards and Service Performance, Audit Report
Section Six – Statement of Standards and Service Performance 
(SSP) For the Year Ended 30 June 2009
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Measures 2008/09 
Budget 
Performance

2008/09 
Actual 
Performance

Comments

(a) Completion of (digital) history projects to plan:

Development of planned content for younger 
users of NZHistory.net.nz

100% 90% The addition and completion of 
the unplanned 28th Māori Battalion 
website project resulted in 
resources being diverted from other 
web projects which were delayed 
until resource became available. 

Development of planned content for history and 
history related curriculum

100% 90%

Annual number of unique visitors to NZHistory.
net.nz

750,000 990,517

(b) Completion of (non-digital) history projects plan:

Vietnam War (combat and medical history) 90% 100%

From Memory (War Oral History Programme) 
– interviews with civilians, commence J and K 
Force interviews

90% 80% The addition and completion of 
the unplanned 28th Māori Battalion 
website project resulted in 
resources being diverted from other 
web projects which were delayed 
until resource became available.

Vietnam oral history project 90% 90%

Prime Ministers and Cabinet 90% 80%

Administer grants for the provision of advice on NZ history

Application processing standards for 
administering grants to NZ history are met

90% 100%

Justified complaints on application processing Nil Nil

The research, writing and publication of NZ works of reference including the online encyclopedia of NZ

Additional themes by 30 June 2009 1 1
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Measures 2008/09 
Budget 
Performance

2008/09 
Actual 
Performance

Comments

(a) Completion of (digital) history projects to plan:

Development of planned content for younger 
users of NZHistory.net.nz

100% 90% The addition and completion of 
the unplanned 28th Māori Battalion 
website project resulted in 
resources being diverted from other 
web projects which were delayed 
until resource became available. 

Development of planned content for history and 
history related curriculum

100% 90%

Annual number of unique visitors to NZHistory.
net.nz

750,000 990,517

(b) Completion of (non-digital) history projects plan:

Vietnam War (combat and medical history) 90% 100%

From Memory (War Oral History Programme) 
– interviews with civilians, commence J and K 
Force interviews

90% 80% The addition and completion of 
the unplanned 28th Māori Battalion 
website project resulted in 
resources being diverted from other 
web projects which were delayed 
until resource became available.

Vietnam oral history project 90% 90%

Prime Ministers and Cabinet 90% 80%

Administer grants for the provision of advice on NZ history

Application processing standards for 
administering grants to NZ history are met

90% 100%

Justified complaints on application processing Nil Nil

The research, writing and publication of NZ works of reference including the online encyclopedia of NZ

Additional themes by 30 June 2009 1 1

Measures 2008/09 
Budget 
Performance

2008/09 
Actual 
Performance

Comments

Publications from Te Ara – The Encyclopedia of 
New Zealand online content

2 1 A second publication, New 
Zealanders and the Sea was 
delayed by the publisher until 
September 2009 because of a 
printer’s error.

Annual visits to www.TeAra.govt.nz 2.5 million 3 million

New regions in Te Ara – The Encyclopedia of 
New Zealand by 30 June 2009

4 3 A fourth region was completed but 
not launched until August 2009.

(b) Quality Standards

Requirement Standard Standard Achievement 2008/09

Quality standards for historical 
publications

All historical publications to meet 
agreed time and content criteria 
(Criteria is specified and documented 
for each project)

Standard achieved.

All applications and enquiries 
acknowledged within 10 working days

Standard achieved.

Quality standards for grant schemes All applications copied and despatched 
to committee at least five working days 
before the meeting to determine grants

Standard achieved.

All decisions with explanations 
notified to applicants within 15 
working days of the decision

Standard exceeded – achieved within 
10 working days.

All payments of grants made within 20 
working days of notification

Standard achieved.

Administration of Protected Objects 
Act 1975

Sections 5,6, and 7 of the Protected 
Objects Act 1975

All applications to export protected 
objects were processed according to 
the criteria in the act.

Government Exhibition 
Indemnification Scheme – Cabinet 
decision

Criteria for the administration 
of the Government Exhibition 
Indemnification Scheme

Both applications for indemnification 
met the criteria of the scheme.
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OuTPuT 1.2: HERITAgE PROPERTY MANAgEMENT

(a) Service Performance measures

Measures Actual performance 2008/09 Comment

4,188 war graves, 81 historic graves and 16 
national monuments will be maintained in 
accordance with the agreed maintenance 
programme

 Achieved – All work programmed for 
war and historic graves for the 2008/09 
year was completed
Partially achieved – national monuments

Work at Savage Memorial 
(only) was not completed 
due for project management 
reasons.

The National War Memorial and seven 
overseas war memorials will be managed and 
maintained in accordance with the agreed 
maintenance programme

Achieved Management and maintenance 
of the National War Memorial 
and the seven overseas 
memorials at Gallipoli, 
Longueval, Graventafel, 
Messines, Le Quesnoy, 
London and Busan was carried 
out according to the agreed 
work programme.

All site inspections to determine necessary 
maintenance will be undertaken in 
accordance with an agreed schedule

Achieved – All site inspections were 
undertaken in accordance with the 
agreed schedule

At the conclusion of scheduled maintenance 
all sites will be in a good state of repair with 
inscriptions legible and stonework intact

Achieved – Every contractor is required 
to supply a photograph of completed 
work with the submitted invoice

Special projects will be managed to give 
100% implementation of the agreed 
programme.
Current projects: 
New Zealand Memorial Park

New Zealand Memorial Park – A design 
for the park was selected but has not 
been approved

Up to the 2008 election 
extensive consultation has 
been undertaken to ensure 
wide support for the project 
as a whole and for the selected 
design.

Commemorating Waitangi Day Fund 

No justified complaints will be received 
concerning administration of the fund

Achieved – No justified complaints were 
received concerning the administration 
of this fund.
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Measures Actual performance 2008/09 Comment

Administering the Government Exhibition Indemnification Scheme 

An estimated 5 indemnifications will be 
established and administered during the 
year (Demand driven measure)

Two deeds of indemnifications were 
signed during the year; one for The 
Emperor’s Dragons at Otago Museum and 
the other for a major exhibition of works 
by Claude Monet at Te Papa.

100% of indemnifications will comply with 
the policy guidelines for the scheme

Achieved – All indemnifications 
complied with the policy guidelines for 
the scheme.

Protected Objects Act 1975
Note: Management of contracts for the authentication of taonga tūturu will be made with the Auckland War Memorial, 
Canterbury and Otago Museums.
Applications made under the Protected Objects Act 1975 are now reflected in the following three measures:

Export certificates for antiquities issued Eighty-eight applications for export 
certificates were made during the year; 
48 export certificates for antiquities were 
issued. The remainder were clearance 
certificates for objects not classified as 
protected.

Determinations of custody of newly found 
taonga tūturu 

During the year, the Ministry was 
notified of 106 newly found taonga 
tūturu. Under the Protected Objects Act, 
custody is no longer determined by the 
Ministry. Instead, the Ministry works 
towards the transfer of legal ownership 
to the actual or traditional owners. 
17 applications for ownership were 
submitted to the Maori Land Court. 11 
applications were granted. The others 
were yet to be determined at year end.

Collectors of taonga tūturu registered Achieved – 74 collectors of artifacts were 
registered.
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Output Financial Performance 
(Figures are GST exclusive) 

2008/09 2008/09

Actual Supp. Estimates

$000 $000

Revenue Crown 5,750 5,750

Other Revenue 275 288

Total Revenue 6,025 6,038

Total Expenses 5,805 6,038

Net Surplus/(deficit) 220 –

Explanations of major variances are provided in Note 14 of the Notes to the Financial Statements (page 56). 

OuTPuT 2: INTERNATIONAL CuLTuRAL DIPLOMACY

Description
This output involves the management of the Cultural Diplomacy International Programme (CDIP), including the co-ordination 
of a cross-agency steering group comprising the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, Tourism New Zealand and New Zealand 
Trade and Enterprise.

(a) Performance measures

Performance Measures 2008/09 Budget 
Standard

2008/09 Actual 
Standard

Comment

Projects completed 100% on time and within 
budget

100% on time and within 
budget

All approved projects met 
the cabinet criteria.

The fourth year of the Cultural Diplomacy International Programme (CDIP) has seen funding provided to a range of projects to 
advance New Zealand’s economic, trade, tourism, and diplomatic interests.

A breakdown of the cost of operating the programme and of the initiatives funded is as follows: 

Operating costs $000

Ministry for Culture and Heritage administrative costs 222

Initiatives funded 1,298

Total 1,520

Breakdown of initiatives funded

Support for the Royal New Zealand Ballet’s tour to China 30
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Operating costs $000

Support for the Prime Minister’s visit to China and the opening of the New Zealand Trade and Enterprise 
business centre in Shanghai

26

Major trade promotion focus activities in Korea 1,024

Shanghai Tourism New Zealand Promotion 66

Contemporary Music and associated leveraging activities in Taipei 56

Manila New Zealand Festival 25

Bangkok Film Festival 8

Jakarta Film Festival 10

Singapore New Zealand Festival 56

Contemporary Music/Dance, Hong Kong and Taipei return of unspent funds −3

Total Initiatives Funded 1,298

Output Financial Performance
(Figures are GST exclusive) 

2008/09 2008/09

Actual Supp. Estimates

$000 $000

Revenue Crown 1,879 1,879

Other Revenue 1 1

Total Revenue 1,880 1,880

Total Expenses 1,520 1,880

Net Surplus/(deficit) 360 –

Explanations of major variances are provided in Note 14 of the Notes to the Financial Statements (page 56).

OuTPuT 3: POLICY ADVICE AND gRANTS ADMINISTRATION

Description
This output involves:

the provision of policy advice on arts, culture, heritage and broadcasting issues, as determined in consultation with Ministers, •	
including legislation, major policy proposals, and developments and initiatives which have significance to the arts, culture, 
heritage and broadcasting sectors

the management and disbursement of payments to a number of arts, culture, heritage and broadcasting sector agencies, and the •	
monitoring of the Crown’s interests in these organisations

the provision of negotiated services to Ministers, including the preparation of replies to ministerial correspondence, and general •	
services that assist Ministers in discharging their portfolio obligations to Parliament. 
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OuTPuT 3.1: POLICY ADVICE

(a) Performance Measures

Performance Measures 2008/09 Budget 
Standard

2008/09 Actual 
Standard

Comment

Policy Advice

Average rating for Ministerial 
satisfaction with policy advice and 
submissions to Cabinet and Cabinet 
Committees

rated good or 
better

Arts, Culture and 
Heritage not met

Broadcasting met

Not met. The ministerial 
assessment has identified room 
for improvement in some areas. 
The Ministry is committed to 
meeting the needs of Ministers 
and is putting processes in place to 
make improvements in the areas 
identified. 

Briefing papers provided 550 638

Cabinet papers provided 30 34

Cabinet papers contributed to 70 92

(a) Arts, culture and heritage issues including legislation, major policy proposals and developments and initiatives of significance 
in the sector

Meets plans and budget for programmes of policy development covering:

Enhancing heritage management 100% 100%

Arts and cultural management 100% 100%

Cross government initiatives 100% 100%

Cross government initiatives where 
they affect the cultural sector

100% 100%

(b) Broadcasting

Meets plans for successful transition 
to digital broadcasting

100% 100% Digital Switch-off Steering Group 
established.

Meets plans for securing future of 
Public Service broadcasting

100% 100% Cabinet paper to repeal TVNZ 
Charter and replace with statutory 
functions. RNZ Bill introduced. 

Meets plans for supporting broadcast 
content availability and impact

100% 100% Platinum Fund announced.
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Performance Measures 2008/09 Budget 
Standard

2008/09 Actual 
Standard

Comment

(c) Provide online information about and access to NZ cultural events and providers (NZLive.com)

Note: 2007/08 was the first full year of operation for the set up and development of NZLive.com and 2008/09 is the base year 
for performance measurement.

Number of visitors to the website 1 million 914,202

Percentage of return visitors Increase in 
return visitors as 
percentage of total 
visitors

Increase of 3%

Subscribers to the newsletter 8,500 8,780

Number of organisations 
contributing content

Increase in 
contributing 
organisations

Decrease of 1%

Number of international visitors Continued increase 
in international 
visitor numbers

Increase of 23%

Return visitor numbers Increase in return 
visitor numbers

Increase of 41%

Monitoring of Funded Agencies

(a) The management and disbursements of payments to arts, heritage and broadcasting sector agencies

Compliance with instructions and 
conditions governing payments to 
funded agencies

100% 100%

(b) Monitoring of the Crown’s interests in funded arts, heritage and broadcasting sector agencies

Compliance with the provisions of 
the funded agency accountability 
regime for the financial year

100% 100%

Board satisfaction with requested 
advice and support on capability 
matters

90% 80%
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Performance Measures 2008/09 Budget 
Standard

2008/09 Actual 
Standard

Comment

Completion of baseline reviews 
within budget and to a standard 
approved by the Minister

100% (for 2 or 
more reviews)

100% (for 2 or 
more reviews)

Te Papa; New Zealand Ballet.

Broadcasting – nil.

Satisfaction with workshops and 
other discussion opportunities for 
board chairs and members

90% or more are 
satisfied

91%

Attendance of new board appointees 
on board induction programmes

100% within 6 
months

71%

Completion of agreed schedule of 
regular updates for board members, 
governance e-newsletter quarterly 
editions and maintenance of relevant 
content on the online shared 
workspace

100% 100%

Other Negotiated Services

(a) Ministerial servicing – preparation of draft responses to ministerial correspondence and questions in the House

Drafts accepted by the Minister 95% 99%

Annual rating of ministerial 
satisfaction with draft ministerial 
correspondence 

Each category 
rated good or 
better

Arts, Culture and 
Heritage not met

Broadcasting met

Not met.

The ministerial assessment has 
identified room for improvement 
in some areas. The Ministry is 
committed to meeting the needs of 
Ministers and is putting processes 
in place to make improvements in 
the areas identified.

Annual rating of ministerial 
satisfaction with draft replies to 
questions in the House

Each category 
rated good or 
better

Met

Working days provision of draft 
ministerial correspondence

90% within 15 
working days of 
receipt

70% Meeting of deadlines is dependant 
upon consultation and research 
demands.

100% within 20 
working days of 
receipt

91%
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Performance Measures 2008/09 Budget 
Standard

2008/09 Actual 
Standard

Comment

Ministers’ office deadlines for draft 
replies to questions in the House

100% 100%

Number of items of draft ministerial 
correspondence

500 458 The number of items is based on 
demand.

Number of draft replies to questions 
in the House

200 117

(b) Preparation of speech notes

Number of draft sets of speech notes 
provided

90 90

(b) Quality Standards

Quality standards for 2008/09 Actual performance Comment

100% of briefing reports will meet the 
deadlines set by the Ministers’ offices

100% briefing reports met deadlines 
set by Ministers’ offices

Ministers will rate on an annual basis, the 
Ministry’s performance in regard to speech 
notes provided as good or better

Arts Culture and heritage – not met Ministerial assessment has 
identified room for improvement 
in some areas. The Ministry 
is committed to meeting the 
needs of Ministers and is 
putting processes in place to 
make improvements in the areas 
identified.

Broadcasting – met.

Submissions to Cabinet / Cabinet Committees

100% of submissions will meet Cabinet 
Office deadlines

Achieved

Sets of speech notes

100% of the sets of speech notes will meet 
the deadlines set by the Ministers’ offices

100% of the sets of speech notes 
provided met the deadlines set by the 
Ministers’ offices.
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OuTPuT 3.2: gRANTS ADMINISTRATION

(a) Performance measures and quality standards

Measures / quality standards for 2008/09 Actual performance Comment

Crown payment for Non-Departmental Output Expenses, 
Other Expenses and Capital Contributions will be disbursed 
to funded organisations during the year. All payments will 
be made in accordance with instructions and conditions 
governing the payment.

100% payments were made 
to funded organisations in 
accordance with instructions 
and conditions governing the 
payment.

The performance of recipients of Crown payments will 
be specified in memoranda of understanding or other 
funding arrangements agreed by responsible Ministers. All 
agreements will be completed by 31 July 2009, unless formal 
extension is agreed by the relevant Minister.

Achieved

Advice and assistance to recipients of Crown payments will 
be provided as required

Achieved – Advice and assistance 
to recipients of Crown payments 
was provided as required.

Advice provided will be rated as satisfactory or better by 90% 
of respondents

Achieved – Feedback was 
sought from agencies and, 
where provided, the Ministry’s 
performance was rated as 
satisfactory or better.

Output Financial Performance
(Figures are GST exclusive) 

2008/09 2008/09

Actual Supp. Estimates

$000 $000

Revenue Crown 6,986 6,986

Other Revenue 148 163

Total Revenue 7,134 7,149

Total Expenses 6,220 7,149

Net Surplus/(deficit) 914 –

Explanations of major variances are provided in Note 14 of the Notes to the Financial Statements (page 56).
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Vote Sport and Recreation

OuTPuT: PuRCHASE ADVICE AND MONITORINg OF SPORT AND RECREATION 
CROWN ENTITIES 

Description 
This output involves the provision of purchase advice to and monitoring of sport and recreation Crown entities on behalf of the 
Minister for Sport and Recreation. 

(a) Performance measures and quality standards

Performance Measures and Standards for 2008/09 Actual performance Comment / Notes

Estimated 10 briefing reports will be provided 24 briefing reports were provided.

Compliance with the Quality Standards for Analysis and 
Advice as assessed by the Minister two times during the year 

At the time of printing this 
information was not available

2008/09 Budgeted 
standard is: Rated 
as meeting and 
frequently exceeding 
expectations.

Crown payment for Non-Departmental Output Expenses, 
Benefits and Other Unrequited Expenses, and Other Crown 
Expenses will be disbursed to at least two organisations 
during the year. All payments will be made in accordance 
with instructions and conditions governing the payment.

100% payments were made to the 
two organisations in accordance 
with instructions and conditions 
governing the payment.

The performance of recipients of Crown payments will be 
specified in memoranda of understanding or other funding 
arrangements agreed to by the Minister. All agreements will 
be completed by 31 July 2008, unless formal extension is 
agreed to by the Minister.

Signed MoUs were in place for 
the two organisations by 31 July 
2008.

Output Financial Performance
(Figures are GST exclusive) 

2008/09 2008/09

 Actual Supp. Estimates

$000 $000

Revenue Crown 98 98

Other Revenue 0 0

Total Revenue 98 98

Total Expenses 98 98

Net Surplus/(deficit) 0 0

Explanations of major variances are provided in Note 14 of the Notes to the Financial Statements (page 56).
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To Th e Readers of Th e Ministry for Culture and Heritage’s 
Financial Statements and Statement of Service Performance 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Th e Auditor General is the auditor of the Ministry for Culture and Heritage (the Ministry). Th e Auditor General has appointed 
me, Leon Pieterse, using the staff  and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit. Th e audit covers the fi nancial 
statements and statement of service performance included in the annual report of the Ministry for the year ended 30 June 2009. 

Unqualifi ed Opinion

In our opinion:
Th e fi nancial statements of the Ministry on pages 34 to 58:•	

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and ‒

fairly refl ect: ‒

the Ministry’s fi nancial position as at 30 June 2009; ˚

the results of its operations and cash fl ows for the year ended on that date; ˚

its expenses and capital expenditure incurred against each appropriation administered by the Ministry and each class of  ˚
outputs included in each output expense appropriation for the year ended 30 June 2009; and

its unappropriated expenses and capital expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2009. ˚

Th e schedules of non-departmental activities on pages 59 to 66 fairly refl ect the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, •	
contingencies, commitments and trust monies managed by the Ministry on behalf of the Crown for the year ended 30 June 
2009.

Th e statement of service performance of the Ministry on pages 67 to 79:•	

complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and ‒

fairly refl ects for each class of outputs: ‒

its standards of delivery performance achieved, as compared with the forecast standards included in the statement of  ˚
forecast service performance adopted at the start of the fi nancial year; and

its actual revenue earned and output expenses incurred, as compared with the forecast revenues and output expenses  ˚
included in the statement of forecast service performance adopted at the start of the fi nancial year. 

Th e audit was completed on 30 September 2009, and is the date at which our opinion is expressed.
Th e basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Chief Executive and the Auditor, 

and explain our independence.

Basis of Opinion

We carried out the audit in accordance with the Auditor General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the New Zealand 
Auditing Standards.

We planned and performed the audit to obtain all the information and explanations we considered necessary in order to obtain 
reasonable assurance that the fi nancial statements and statement of service performance did not have material misstatements, 
whether caused by fraud or error.

Material misstatements are diff erences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would aff ect a reader’s overall 
understanding of the fi nancial statements and statement of service performance. If we had found material misstatements that were 
not corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion.

Th e audit involved performing procedures to test the information presented in the fi nancial statements and statement of service 
performance. We assessed the results of those procedures in forming our opinion.

Audit Report
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Audit procedures generally include:
determining whether signifi cant fi nancial and management controls are working and can be relied on to produce complete and •	
accurate data;

verifying samples of transactions and account balances;•	

performing analyses to identify anomalies in the reported data;•	

reviewing signifi cant estimates and judgements made by the Chief Executive;•	

confi rming year-end balances;•	

determining whether accounting policies are appropriate and consistently applied; and•	

determining whether all fi nancial statement and statement of service performance disclosures are adequate.•	

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the fi nancial statements and statement of 
service performance.

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the fi nancial statements and statement of service 
performance. We obtained all the information and explanations we required to support our opinion above.

Responsibilities of the Chief Executive and the Auditor

Th e Chief Executive is responsible for preparing the fi nancial statements and statement of service performance in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. Th e fi nancial statements must fairly refl ect the fi nancial position of the 
Ministry as at 30 June 2009 and the results of its operations and cash fl ows for the year ended on that date. 

Th e fi nancial statements must also fairly refl ect the expenses and capital expenditure incurred against each appropriation 
administered by the Ministry and each class of outputs included in each output expense appropriation for the year ended 30 June 
2009. Th e fi nancial statements must also fairly refl ect the Ministry’s unappropriated expenses and capital expenditure for the year 
ended on that date. 

In addition, the Chief Executive is responsible for preparing schedules of non-departmental activities, in accordance with the 
Treasury Instructions 2008 that must fairly refl ect the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, contingencies, commitments and trust 
monies managed by the Ministry on behalf of the Crown for the year ended 30 June 2009.

Th e statement of service performance must fairly refl ect, for each class of outputs, the Ministry’s standards of delivery 
performance achieved and revenue earned and expenses incurred, as compared with the forecast standards, revenue and expenses 
adopted at the start of the fi nancial year. 

Th e Chief Executive’s responsibilities arise from sections 45A and 45B of the Public Finance Act 1989. 
We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the fi nancial statements and statement of service performance 

and reporting that opinion to you. Th is responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and section 45D(2) of the 
Public Finance Act 1989. 

Independence

When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor General, which incorporate the 
independence requirements of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of New Zealand.

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the Ministry.

Leon Pieterse
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor General
Wellington, New Zealand
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Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited fi nancial statements

Th is audit report relates to the fi nancial statements of the Ministry for Culture and Heritage for 
the year ended 30 June 2009 included on the Ministry’s web site. Th e Ministry’s Chief Executive is 
responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Ministry’s web site. We have not been engaged to 
report on the integrity of the Ministry’s web site. We accept no responsibility for any changes that may 
have occurred to the fi nancial statements since they were initially presented on the web site.

Th e audit report refers only to the fi nancial statements named above. It does not provide an opinion 
on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these fi nancial statements. If 
readers of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic data communication 
they should refer to the published hard copy of the audited fi nancial statements and related audit report 
dated 30 September 2009 to confi rm the information included in the audited fi nancial statements 
presented on this web site.

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of fi nancial statements 
may diff er from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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